
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

12051 Corporate Boulevard, Orlando, FL  32817; 407.723.5900  
www.towneparkcdd.com 

 
 

The following is the proposed agenda for the Board of Supervisors’ Meeting for the Towne Park 
Community Development District, scheduled to be held Thursday, Thursday, May 14, 2020 at 
11:00 a.m. via conference call due to the Executive Order 20-112 extending COVID-19 
Executive Order 20-69. Attached to this Agenda is a copy of the Executive Order 20-69.  The 
attendance of three Board Members is required to constitute a quorum. 
 
To attend the meeting, please use the below conference call information:  
 
 Phone:   1-844-621-3956  

Access Code:   790 393 986 # 
 
PROPOSED BOARD OF SUPERVISORS’ MEETING AGENDA 
 
Administrative Matters 

• Roll Call to Confirm Quorum 
• Public Comment Period [for any members of the public desiring to speak on any 

proposition before the Board] 
1. Consideration of Minutes of the March 12, 2020 Board of Supervisors Meeting 
2. Consideration of Letter from Supervisor of Election Regarding Qualified Electors 
3. Consideration of Resolution 2020-13, Designating Date, Time, and Location for a 

Landowners Meeting and Election [suggested date: 11/12/20] 
4. Consideration of resolution 2020-14, Regarding General Election 

Business Matters 

5. Public Hearing on the Adoption of the Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure 
o Public Comments and Testimony 
o Board Comments 
o Consideration of Resolution 2020-15, Adopting the Amended and Restated 

Rules of Procedure 
6. Consideration of Resolution 2020-16, Approving a Proposed Budget for Fiscal 

Year 2020-2021 and Setting a Public Hearing Date Thereon [suggested date: July 16, 
2020] 

7. Conveyance of Stormwater Ponds (provided under separate cover) 
8. Consideration of Proposal(s) for Riverstone Ponds Maintenance (provided under 

separate cover) 
9. Review of the District’s Amenity Policies 
10. Discussion of Re-Opening of District Amenities 
11. Ratification of Escrow Agreement (Towne Park Community Development District 

Riverstone Amenities) 



 
 

12. Ratification of Partial Termination of Temporary Construction and Access 
Easement Agreement 

13. Ratification of Pay Applications 
• Phase 3A #19-20 
• Riverstone Phase 2 #6-9 
• Riverstone Phse 3 & 4 #6-9 

14. Ratification of approved escrow fund releases Nos. 1 & 3 
15. Ratification of Payment Authorization No. 138 – 150    
16. Consideration of Monthly Financials  

Other Business 

Staff Reports 
  District Counsel  

  District Engineer   
  District Manager 
Supervisor Requests and Audience Comments 
Adjournment 







 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Minutes 
 
 
 
 



Page 1 of 4 
 

 
MINUTES OF MEETING 
 
TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
BOARD OF SUPERVISORS’ MEETING 
Thursday, March 12, 2020 at 11:02 a.m. 
The Offices of Highland Homes 
3020 S. Florida Avenue, Suite 101 
Lakeland, Florida 33803 
 
Board Members present at roll call: 
 

Brian Walsh   Vice Chairman 
Jeffery Shenefield  Assistant Secretary 
Rennie Heath   Assistant Secretary 
 

Also Present: 
 

Jane Gaarlandt   PFM 
Christina Hanna   PFM 
Dexter Glasgow   PFM   
Kevin Plenzler   PFM Financial Advisors, LLC (via phone) 
Michelle Rigoni   Hopping Green & Sams, P.A. (via phone)  
Heather E. Wertz  Absolute Engineering  (via phone) 
 

 
FIRST ORDER OF BUSINESS  Call to Order and Roll Call 
 
The meeting was called to order at approximately 11:02 a.m. The Board Members and staff in 
attendance are as outlined above.  
 
 
SECOND ORDER OF BUSINESS Public Comment Period 
 
Ms. Gaarlandt noted that there were no public comments at this time. 
 
 
THIRD ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of the Minutes of the 

February 13, 2020 Board of 
Supervisors’ Meeting and the 
February 26, 2020 Emergency Meeting 

 
The Board reviewed the minutes of the February 13, 2020 Board of Supervisors’ Meeting and the 
February 26, 2020 Emergency Meeting. 
 



Page 2 of 4 
 

 
ON MOTION by Mr. Walsh, seconded by Mr. Shenefield, with all in favor, the Board approved the 
Minutes of the February 13, 2020 Board of Supervisors’ Meeting and the February 26, 2020 
Emergency Meeting. 
 
 
 
FOURTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2020-11, 

Ratifying Actions Taken by the Board 
at its February 26, 2020 Emergency 
Meeting 
 

Ms. Gaarlandt presented Resolution 2020-11 for the Board’s consideration. Ms. Rigoni explained 
this Resolution recites the actions that were taken at the emergency meeting and the procedures 
the District followed in accordance with the Emergency Meeting procedures provided in the 
District’s Rules of Procedure. The Resolution ratifies all actions taken at the Emergency Meeting 
and directs staff to follow additional procedural rules that are provided in the District rules of 
procedure.  
 
 
ON MOTION by Mr. Walsh, seconded by Mr. Shenefield, with all in favor, the Board approved 
Resolution 2020-11, Ratifying Actions Taken by the Board at its February 26, 2020 Emergency 
Meeting. 
 
 
 
FIFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Resolution 2020-12, 

Adopting Internal Controls Policy 
 

Ms. Rigoni explained many of these policies are already in place and may be implemented by the 
District management staff. The District Amended rules that the Board will adopt soon will require 
the District to adopt them as formal policy. This Resolution sets forth those policies to prevent fraud, 
waste and abuse.  
 
 
ON MOTION by Mr. Heath, seconded by Mr. Walsh, with all in favor, the Board approved Resolution 
2020-12, Adopting Internal Controls Policy. 
 
 
 
SIXTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Consideration of Proposal for 

Riverstone Ponds Maintenance 
 



Page 3 of 4 
 

Ms. Gaarlandt stated this was put on the agenda because the District was requested to start 
maintaining the ponds in Riverstone. Ms. Gaarlandt asked if these ponds are part of what still needs 
to be conveyed to the District. Ms. Rigoni said yes. She has not started the conveyance process 
yet but requested that the Board authorize staff with work with the Chair or Vice Chair in conveying 
the storm water tracts in Riverstone Phase 1 and Riverstone Phase 2 over to the District and 
facilitating permit transfers associated with the ponds. District Management will continue to solicit 
proposals and request one from the current vendor.  
 
 
 
 
SEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Review of District’s Amenity Polices 

 
Ms. Gaarlandt requested that this item be deferred to the following meeting.  
 
 
EIGHTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Ratification of Payment 

Authorizations No. 138 - 140 
 
The Board reviewed Payment Authorizations Nos. 138 – 140. 
 
 
ON MOTION by Mr. Walsh, seconded by Mr. Heath, with all in favor, the Board ratified Payment 
Authorizations Nos. 138 – 140. 
 
 
 
NINTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Review of Monthly Financials 
 
The Board reviewed the monthly financials through February 29, 2020. There was no action 
required by the Board. 
 
 
TENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Staff Reports 
 
District Counsel –  No Report 
 
District Engineer –  Nor Report  
 
District Manager –  Mr. Glasgow stated he needs a signature on a proposal for Fertilization. 

Mr. Heath noted that he signed it this morning. Mr. Glasgow stated this is 
additional maintenance that needs to be done to get the grass up to spec. 

 



Page 4 of 4 
 

 Mr. Glasgow noted the District received a proposal for fertilization from 
FloraLawn in the amount of $6,250.00 and requested the Board’s 
approval. 

 
 
ON MOTION by Mr. Walsh, seconded by Mr. Shenefield, with all in favor, the Board ratified the 
Fertilization Proposal from FloraLawn in the amount of $6,250.00. 
 
 
A discussion took place about the conveyance of the ponds and conveyance of remaining common 
area tracts and improvements in Towne Park Estates Phase 2B.  
  
 
ON MOTION by Mr. Heath, seconded by Mr. Walsh, with all in favor, the Board authorized District 
Staff to work with the Chair or Vice-Chair to get conveyance documents ready for Riverstone Phase 
1 and Riverstone Phase 2 Stormwater Ponds and to review outstanding conveyance of common 
area tracts and improvements in Towne Park Estates Phase 2B.  
 
 
 
ELEVENTH ORDER OF BUSINESS Supervisor Requests and Audience 

Comments 
 
There were no Supervisor requests or audience comments. 
 
 
TWELFTH ORDER OF BUSINESS   Adjournment 
 
There were no other questions or comments. Ms. Gaarlandt requested a motion to adjourn. 
 
 
ON MOTION by Mr. Heath, seconded by Mr. Walsh, with all in favor, the Board adjourned the 
March 12, 2020 Board of Supervisor’s Meeting for the Towne Park Community Development 
District. 
 
 
 
 
 
___________________________   __________________________ 
Secretary / Assistant Secretary    Chairman / Vice Chairman 



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Letter from Supervisor of Election Regarding 
Qualified Electors  

 
 





 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2020-13 
 
 
 



 

1 
 

RESOLUTION 2020-13 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
DESIGNATING A DATE, TIME AND LOCATION FOR A 
LANDOWNERS’ MEETING AND ELECTION; PROVIDING FOR 
PUBLICATION; ESTABLISHING FORMS FOR THE 
LANDOWNERS’ ELECTION; AND PROVIDING FOR 
SEVERABILITY AND AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

 
WHEREAS, Towne Park Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special-

purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely 
within the City of Lakeland, Florida; and 

 
WHEREAS, pursuant to Section 190.006(1), Florida Statutes, the District’s Board of Supervisors 

(“Board”) “shall exercise the powers granted to the district pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes,” and 
the Board shall consist of five members; and 
 

WHEREAS, the District is statutorily required to hold a meeting of the landowners of the District 
for the purpose of electing Board Supervisors for the District on a date in November established by the 
Board, which shall be noticed pursuant to Section 190.006(2), Florida Statutes. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
1. EXISTING BOARD SUPERVISORS; SEATS SUBJECT TO ELECTIONS.  The 

Board is currently made up of the following individuals:  
 

Seat Number Supervisor Term Expiration Date 
1 Brian Walsh 11/2020 
2 Rennie Heath 11/2022 
3 Scott Shapiro 11/2022 
4 D. Joel Adams 11/2020 
5 Jeffrey Shenefield 11/2020 

 
This year, Seat _____ currently held by ________________________ with term expiring in 

November 2020 is subject to a landowner election.  The term of office for the successful landowner 
candidate shall commence upon election and shall be for a four year period. The remaining two Seats ____ 
and ____ with terms expiring in November 2020 are subject to a General Election process to be conducted 
by the Polk County Supervisor of Elections, which General Election process shall be addressed in 
Resolution 2020-14. 

 
2. LANDOWNERS’ ELECTION.  In accordance with Section 190.006(2), Florida Statutes, 

the meeting of the landowners to elect Board Supervisor(s) of the District shall be held on the ___ day of 
November, 2020, at _____ __.m., and located at the offices of Highland Homes, 3020 S. Florida Avenue, 
Suite 101, Lakeland, Florida 33803. 

 
3. PUBLICATION.  The District’s Secretary is hereby directed to publish notice of the 

landowners’ meeting and election in accordance with the requirements of Section 190.006(2), Florida 
Statutes. 



 

2 
 

 4. FORMS.  Pursuant to Section 190.006(2)(b), Florida Statutes, the landowners’ meeting 
and election have been announced by the Board at its May 14, 2020 meeting. A sample notice of 
landowners’ meeting and election, proxy, ballot form and instructions were presented at such meeting and 
are attached hereto as Exhibit A.  Such documents are available for review and copying during normal 
business hours at the District’s Local Records Office, located at ________________________________, 
or at the office of the District Manager, PFM Group Consulting LLC, located at 12051 Corporated 
Boulevard, Orlando, Florida 32817. 
 
 5. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of 
this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions of this Resolution, 
or any part thereof. 
 

 
 6. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of May, 2020. 
 
 
ATTEST: TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
 
 

 
               
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
 
Exhibit A: Sample Election Documents 



 

3 
 

EXHIBIT A 
 

NOTICE OF LANDOWNERS’ MEETING AND ELECTION AND MEETING OF THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
Notice is hereby given to the public and all landowners within Towne Park Community Development District 

(“District”) the location of which is generally described as comprising a parcel or parcels of land containing 
approximately 586 acres, generally bounded on the north by W. Pipkin Road and on the south by Ewell Road, entirely 
within the City of Lakeland, Florida, advising that a meeting of landowners will be held for the purpose of electing 
one (1) person to the District’s Board of Supervisors (“Board”, and individually, “Supervisor”).  Immediately 
following the landowners’ meeting there will be convened a meeting of the Board for the purpose of considering 
certain matters of the Board to include election of certain District officers, and other such business which may properly 
come before the Board.   
 

DATE:      
TIME:      
PLACE:     
     
 
Each landowner may vote in person or by written proxy.  Proxy forms may be obtained upon request at the 

office of the District Manager, PFM Group Consulting LLC, 12051 Corporate Boulevard, Orlando, Florida 32817, 
Ph: (407) 723-5900 (“District Manager’s Office”).  At said meeting each landowner or his or her proxy shall be 
entitled to nominate persons for the position of Supervisor and cast one vote per acre of land, or fractional portion 
thereof, owned by him or her and located within the District for each person to be elected to the position of Supervisor.  
A fraction of an acre shall be treated as one acre, entitling the landowner to one vote with respect thereto.  Platted lots 
shall be counted individually and rounded up to the nearest whole acre.  The acreage of platted lots shall not be 
aggregated for determining the number of voting units held by a landowner or a landowner’s proxy. At the landowners’ 
meeting the landowners shall select a person to serve as the meeting chair and who shall conduct the meeting.  

 
The landowners’ meeting and the Board meeting are open to the public and will be conducted in accordance 

with the provisions of Florida law.  One or both of the meetings may be continued to a date, time, and place to be 
specified on the record at such meeting.  A copy of the agenda for these meetings may be obtained from the District 
Manager’s Office. There may be an occasion where one or more supervisors or staff will participate by telephone.   

 
Any person requiring special accommodations to participate in these meetings is asked to contact the District 

Manager’s Office, at least 48 hours before the hearing.  If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the 
Florida Relay Service by dialing 7-1-1, or 1-800-955-8771 (TTY) / 1-800-955-8770 (Voice), for aid in contacting the 
District Manager’s Office.   
 

A person who decides to appeal any decision made by the Board with respect to any matter considered at the 
meeting is advised that such person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the person may need 
to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is made, including the testimony and evidence upon which the 
appeal is to be based.  
 
 
Jane Gaarlandt 
District Manager 
Run Date(s): __________ & _____________ 
 
PUBLISH: ONCE A WEEK FOR 2 CONSECUTIVE WEEKS, THE LAST DAY OF PUBLICATION TO BE NOT 
FEWER THAN 14 DAYS OR MORE THAN 28 DAYS BEFORE THE DATE OF ELECTION, IN A NEWSPAPER 
WHICH IS IN GENERAL CIRCULATION IN THE AREA OF THE DISTRICT 
 

 
 



 

4 
 

INSTRUCTIONS RELATING TO LANDOWNERS’ MEETING OF 
TOWNE PARK  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
FOR THE ELECTION OF SUPERVISORS 

 
DATE OF LANDOWNERS’ MEETING:  
 
TIME:  
 
LOCATION:  
 
Pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, and after a Community Development District (“District”) has 
been established and the landowners have held their initial election, there shall be a subsequent landowners’ 
meeting for the purpose of electing members of the Board of Supervisors (“Board”) every two years until 
the District qualifies to have its board members elected by the qualified electors of the District. The 
following instructions on how all landowners may participate in the election are intended to comply with 
Section 190.006(2)(b), Florida Statutes.  
 
A landowner may vote in person at the landowners’ meeting, or the landowner may nominate a proxy holder 
to vote at the meeting in place of the landowner. Whether in person or by proxy, each landowner shall be 
entitled to cast one vote per acre of land owned by him or her and located within the District, for each 
position on the Board that is open for election for the upcoming term. A fraction of an acre shall be treated 
as one (1) acre, entitling the landowner to one vote with respect thereto. For purposes of determining voting 
interests, platted lots shall be counted individually and rounded up to the nearest whole acre. Moreover, 
please note that a particular parcel of real property is entitled to only one vote for each eligible acre of land 
or fraction thereof; therefore, two or more people who own real property in common, that is one acre or 
less, are together entitled to only one vote for that real property.  
 
At the landowners’ meeting, the first step is to elect a chair for the meeting, who may be any person present 
at the meeting. The landowners shall also elect a secretary for the meeting who may be any person present 
at the meeting. The secretary shall be responsible for the minutes of the meeting. The chair shall conduct 
the nominations and the voting. If the chair is a landowner or proxy holder of a landowner, he or she may 
nominate candidates and make and second motions.  Candidates must be nominated and then shall be 
elected by a vote of the landowners. Nominees may be elected only to a position on the Board that is open 
for election for the upcoming term.  
 
This year, one (1) seat on the Board will be up for election by landowners.  The candidate receiving the 
highest number of votes shall be elected for a term of four (4) years.  The term of office for the successful 
candidate shall commence upon election.  
 
A proxy is available upon request.  To be valid, each proxy must be signed by one of the legal owners of 
the property for which the vote is cast and must contain the typed or printed name of the individual who 
signed the proxy; the street address, legal description of the property or tax parcel identification number; 
and the number of authorized votes.  If the proxy authorizes more than one vote, each property must be 
listed and the number of acres of each property must be included. The signature on a proxy does not need 
to be notarized.  

 



 

5 
 

LANDOWNER PROXY 
 

TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF LAKELAND, POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA 
LANDOWNERS’ MEETING – ____________, 2020 

 
 KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that the undersigned, the fee simple owner of the lands 
described herein, hereby constitutes and appoints _______________________________________ (“Proxy Holder”) 
for and on behalf of the undersigned, to vote as proxy at the meeting of the landowners of the Towne Park Community 
Development District to be held at ___________________, on ________, _________, 2020, at _____ _.m., and at 
any adjournments thereof, according to the number of acres of unplatted land and/or platted lots owned by the 
undersigned landowner that the undersigned would be entitled to vote if then personally present, upon any question, 
proposition, or resolution or any other matter or thing that may be considered at said meeting including, but not limited 
to, the election of members of the Board of Supervisors.  Said Proxy Holder may vote in accordance with his or her 
discretion on all matters not known or determined at the time of solicitation of this proxy, which may legally be 
considered at said meeting.   
 
 Any proxy heretofore given by the undersigned for said meeting is hereby revoked.  This proxy is to continue 
in full force and effect from the date hereof until the conclusion of the landowners’ meeting and any adjournment or 
adjournments thereof, but may be revoked at any time by written notice of such revocation presented at the 
landowners’ meeting prior to the Proxy Holder’s exercising the voting rights conferred herein. 
 
        
Printed Name of Legal Owner 
 
              
Signature of Legal Owner      Date 
 
 
Parcel Description Acreage Authorized Votes  
 
_______________________________________  _______ _______ 
_______________________________________  _______ _______  
_______________________________________  _______ _______   
 
[Insert above the street address of each parcel, the legal description of each parcel, or the tax identification number of 
each parcel.  If more space is needed, identification of parcels owned may be incorporated by reference to an 
attachment hereto.] 
 
Total Number of Authorized Votes:  _______ 
 
 
 
 
 
NOTES:  Pursuant to Section 190.006(2)(b), Florida Statutes (2019), a fraction of an acre is treated as one (1) acre 
entitling the landowner to one vote with respect thereto.  For purposes of determining voting interests, platted lots 
shall be counted individually and rounded up to the nearest whole acre. Moreover, two (2) or more persons who own 
real property in common that is one acre or less are together entitled to only one vote for that real property.   
 
If the fee simple landowner is not an individual, and is instead a corporation, limited liability company, limited 
partnership or other entity, evidence that the individual signing on behalf of the entity has the authority to do so should 
be attached hereto (e.g., bylaws, corporate resolution, etc.). 

 
 



 

6 
 

  
OFFICIAL BALLOT 

 
TOWNE PARK  

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
CITY OF LAKELAND, POLK COUNTY, FLORIDA 

LANDOWNERS’ MEETING - ___________, 2020 
______________________________________________________________________________ 
For Election (1 Supervisor): The candidate receiving the highest number of votes will receive a four (4) 
year term, with the term of office for the successful candidate commencing upon election. 
 
The undersigned certifies that he/she/it is the fee simple owner of land, or the proxy holder for the fee 
simple owner of land, located within the Towne Park Community Development District and described as 
follows: 
 
Description        Acreage 
___________________________________________________  _______ 
___________________________________________________  _______ 
___________________________________________________  _______ 
 
[Insert above the street address of each parcel, the legal description of each parcel, or the tax identification 
number of each parcel.]  [If more space is needed, identification of parcels owned may be incorporated by 
reference to an attachment hereto.] 
 
or 
 
Attach Proxy. 
 

I, ____________________________, as Landowner, or as the proxy holder of 
_____________________ (Landowner) pursuant to the Landowner’s Proxy attached hereto, do cast my 
votes as follows: 
 

SEAT # NAME OF CANDIDATE NUMBER OF VOTES 
 
 

  

 
Date:                                 Signed:       
      Printed Name:       



 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2020-14 
 
 
 
 



1 
 

RESOLUTION 2020-14 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TOWNE 
PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT IMPLEMENTING 
SECTION 190.006(3)(A)(2)(c), FLORIDA STATUTES AND INSTRUCTING 
THE POLK COUNTY SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS TO BEGIN 
CONDUCTING THE DISTRICT’S GENERAL ELECTION. 
 
WHEREAS, the Towne Park Community Development District (hereinafter the 

“District”) is a local unit of special-purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 
190, Florida Statutes, being situated in City of Lakeland within Polk County, Florida; 
 

WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors of Towne Park Community Development District 
(hereinafter the “Board”) seeks to implement Section 190.006(3)(A)(2)(c), Florida Statutes, and 
to instruct the Supervisor of Elections for Polk County, Florida (the “Supervisor”), to conduct the 
District’s General Election. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS 
OF THE TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 1. GENERAL ELECTION SEATS.  Seat ____ and Seat ____ with terms expiring 
in November 2020 are scheduled for the General Election beginning in November 2020. The 
District Manager is hereby authorized to notify the Supervisor of Elections as to what seats are 
subject to General Election for the current election year, and for each subsequent election year. 
The remaining seat with a term expiring in November 2020 shall be filled by an election of the 
landowners in accordance with Section 190.006, Florida Statutes, which process shall be 
addressed in Resolution 2020-13. 

 
 2. QUALIFICATION PROCESS.  For each General Election, all candidates shall 
qualify for individual seats in accordance with Section 99.061, Florida Statutes, and must also be 
a qualified elector of the District. A qualified elector is any person at least 18 years of age who is 
a citizen of the United States, a legal resident of the State of Florida and of the District, and who 
is registered to vote with the Polk County Supervisor of Elections.  Campaigns shall be conducted 
in accordance with Chapter 106, Florida Statutes. 

 
 3. COMPENSATION. Members of the Board are entitled to receive $200 per 
meeting for their attendance and no Board member shall receive more than $4,800 per year. 

 
 4. TERM OF OFFICE. The term of office for the individuals to be elected to the 
Board in the General Election is four years.  The newly elected Board members shall assume office 
on the second Tuesday following the election. 
 
 5. REQUEST TO SUPERVISOR OF ELECTIONS.  The District hereby requests 
the Supervisor to conduct the District’s General Election in November 2020, and for each 
subsequent General Election unless otherwise directed by the District’s Manager.  The District 
understands that it will be responsible to pay for its proportionate share of the General Election 



2 
 

cost and agrees to pay same within a reasonable time after receipt of an invoice from the 
Supervisor.   

 
 6. PUBLICATION.  The District Manager is directed to publish a notice of the 
qualifying period for each General Election, in a form substantially similar to Exhibit A attached 
hereto. 

 
 7. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 
provisions of this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions 
of this Resolution, or any part thereof. 

 
 8. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall become effective upon its passage. 

 
PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of May, 2020. 

 
TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 

        
CHAIRPERSON/VICE CHAIRPERSON 

 
ATTEST: 
 
 
            
SECRETARY/ASSISTANT SECRETARY 
 
  



3 
 

EXHIBIT A 
FORM OF NOTICE OF QUALIFYING PERIOD 

 
NOTICE OF QUALIFYING PERIOD FOR CANDIDATES 

FOR THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
(__________) COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

Notice is hereby given that the qualifying period for candidates for the office of Supervisor 
of the (_______) Community Development District (“District”) will commence at noon on June 
8, 2020, and close at noon on June 12, 2020.  Candidates must qualify for the office of Supervisor 
with the (______________) County Supervisor of Elections located at (____________________), 
(_______), Florida ______; Ph: (____) (____).  All candidates shall qualify for individual seats in 
accordance with Section 99.061, Florida Statutes, and must also be a “qualified elector” of the 
District, as defined in Section 190.003, Florida Statutes.  A “qualified elector” is any person at 
least 18 years of age who is a citizen of the United States, a legal resident of the State of Florida 
and of the District, and who is registered to vote with the (__________) County Supervisor of 
Elections.  Campaigns shall be conducted in accordance with Chapter 106, Florida Statutes. 

The (_______) Community Development District has (___) (_) seats up for election, 
specifically seats __ and __.  Each seat carries a four-year term of office.  Elections are non-
partisan and will be held at the same time as the general election on November 3, 2020, and in the 
manner prescribed by law for general elections. 

For additional information, please contact the (_______________) County Supervisor of 
Elections. 

 

Publish on or before May 25, 2020.  

 



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Public Hearing 



 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2020-15 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2020-15 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE 
TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
ADOPTING AMENDED AND RESTATED RULES OF 
PROCEDURE; PROVIDING A SEVERABILITY CLAUSE; AND 
PROVIDING AN EFFECTIVE DATE. 

  
 WHEREAS, Towne Park Community Development District (“District”) is a local unit of special 
purpose government created and existing pursuant to Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, being situated entirely 
within City of Lakeland, Polk County, Florida; and  
 
 WHEREAS, Chapter 190, Florida Statutes, authorizes the District to adopt rules to govern the 
administration of the District and to adopt resolutions as may be necessary for the conduct of District 
business; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the District has previously adopted Rules of Procedure to govern the administration 
of the District; and  
 
 WHEREAS, to provide for efficient and effective District operations and to maintain compliance 
with recent changes to Florida law, the Board of Supervisors finds that it is in the best interests of the 
District to adopt by resolution the Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure attached hereto as Exhibit A 
for immediate use and application; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board of Supervisors has complied with applicable Florida law concerning rule 
development and adoption. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT: 

 
 SECTION 1. The attached Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure are hereby adopted 
pursuant to this resolution as necessary for the conduct of District business.  These Amended and Restated 
Rules of Procedure replace all prior versions of the Rules of Procedure, and shall stay in full force and 
effect until such time as the Board of Supervisors may amend these rules in accordance with Chapter 190, 
Florida Statutes. 
 
 SECTION 2.  If any provision of this resolution is held to be illegal or invalid, the other provisions 
shall remain in full force and effect. 
 
 SECTION 3. This resolution shall become effective upon its passage and shall remain in effect 
unless rescinded or repealed. 
 
 PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of May, 2020. 
 
ATTEST:     TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 
 
_____________________________  ____________________________________ 
Secretary     Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 
Exhibit A:  Amended and Restated Rules of Procedure 
 



EXHIBIT A:  
AMENDED AND RESTATED RULES OF PROCEDURE 

 



 

1 
 

AMENDED AND RESTATED 
RULES OF PROCEDURE 

TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 
  

EFFECTIVE AS OF May 14, 2020 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
Rule  1.0 General. ......................................................................................................................... 2 

Rule 1.1 Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting. ............................................... 3 

Rule 1.2  District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 
Service Contract Requirements; Financial Disclosure Coordination. ........ 7 

Rule 1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops. ............................................ 10 

Rule 1.4 Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse .............................. 15 

Rule 2.0  Rulemaking Proceedings. ........................................................................................... 16 

Rule 3.0 Competitive Purchase. ................................................................................................ 22 

Rule 3.1 Procedure Under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act. ........... 27 

Rule 3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection. .................................................. 31 

Rule 3.3 Purchase of Insurance. .............................................................................. 36 

Rule 3.4 Pre-qualification ........................................................................................ 38 

Rule 3.5 Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build. .............................................. 43 

Rule 3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build. ..................................................... 47 

Rule 3.7  Payment and Performance Bonds. ............................................................ 52 

Rule 3.8 Goods, Supplies, and Materials. ............................................................... 53 

Rule 3.9 Maintenance Services. .............................................................................. 57 

Rule 3.10 Contractual Services. ................................................................................ 60 

Rule 3.11 Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 
3.6, 3.8, and 3.9. ........................................................................................ 61 

Rule 4.0 Effective Date. ............................................................................................................ 64 



 

2 
 

Rule  1.0 General. 

 
(1) The Towne Park Community Development District (the “District”) was created 

pursuant to the provisions of Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes, and was 
established to provide for the ownership, operation, maintenance, and provision of 
various capital facilities and services within its jurisdiction. The purpose of these 
rules (the “Rules”) is to describe the general operations of the District. 

 
(2) Definitions located within any section of these Rules shall be applicable within all 

other sections, unless specifically stated to the contrary. 
 
(3) Unless specifically permitted by a written agreement with the District, the District 

does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or facsimile transmission.  
Filings are only accepted during normal business hours. 

 
(4) A Rule of the District shall be effective upon adoption by affirmative vote of the 

District Board.  After a Rule becomes effective, it may be repealed or amended 
only through the rulemaking procedures specified in these Rules.  
Notwithstanding, the District may immediately suspend the application of a Rule 
if the District determines that the Rule conflicts with Florida law.  In the event 
that a Rule conflicts with Florida law and its application has not been suspended 
by the District, such Rule should be interpreted in the manner that best effectuates 
the intent of the Rule while also complying with Florida law.  If the intent of the 
Rule absolutely cannot be effectuated while complying with Florida law, the Rule 
shall be automatically suspended. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
 



 

3 
 

Rule 1.1 Board of Supervisors; Officers and Voting. 
 

(1) Board of Supervisors. The Board of Supervisors of the District (the “Board”) shall 
consist of five (5) members. Members of the Board (“Supervisors”) appointed by 
ordinance or rule or elected by landowners must be citizens of the United States 
of America and residents of the State of Florida.  Supervisors elected or appointed 
by the Board to elector seats must be citizens of the United States of America, 
residents of the State of Florida and of the District and registered to vote with the 
Supervisor of Elections of the county in which the District is located and for those 
elected, shall also be qualified to run by the Supervisor of Elections.  The Board 
shall exercise the powers granted to the District under Florida law. 
 
(a)  Supervisors shall hold office for the term specified by Section 190.006 of 

the Florida Statutes. If, during the term of office, any Board member(s) 
vacates their office, the remaining member(s) of the Board shall fill the 
vacancies by appointment for the remainder of the term(s). If three or 
more vacancies exist at the same time, a quorum, as defined herein, shall 
not be required to appoint replacement Board members. 

 
(b)  Three (3) members of the Board shall constitute a quorum for the purposes 

of conducting business, exercising powers and all other purposes.  A 
Board member shall be counted toward the quorum if physically present at 
the meeting, regardless of whether such Board member is prohibited from, 
or abstains from, participating in discussion or voting on a particular item.   

 
(c)   Action taken by the Board shall be upon a majority vote of the members 

present, unless otherwise provided in the Rules or required by law.  
Subject to Rule 1.3(10), a Board member participating in the Board 
meeting by teleconference or videoconference shall be entitled to vote and 
take all other action as though physically present. 

 
(d)   Unless otherwise provided for by an act of the Board, any one Board 

member may attend a mediation session on behalf of the Board.  Any 
agreement resulting from such mediation session must be approved 
pursuant to subsection (1)(c) of this Rule. 

 
(2) Officers. At the first Board meeting held after each election where the newly 

elected members take office, the Board shall select a Chairperson, Vice-
Chairperson, Secretary, Assistant Secretary, and Treasurer. 

 
(a)  The Chairperson must be a member of the Board.  If the Chairperson 

resigns from that office or ceases to be a member of the Board, the Board 
shall select a Chairperson.  The Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the 
Board.  The Chairperson shall be authorized to execute resolutions and 
contracts on the District’s behalf.  The Chairperson shall convene and 
conduct all meetings of the Board.  In the event the Chairperson is unable 



 

4 
 

to attend a meeting, the Vice-Chairperson shall convene and conduct the 
meeting.  The Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson may delegate the 
responsibility of conducting the meeting to the District’s manager 
(“District Manager”) or District Counsel, in whole or in part. 

 
(b)  The Vice-Chairperson shall be a member of the Board and shall have such 

duties and responsibilities as specifically designated by the Board from 
time to time. The Vice-Chairperson has the authority to execute 
resolutions and contracts on the District’s behalf in the absence of the 
Chairperson.  If the Vice-Chairperson resigns from office or ceases to be a 
member of the Board, the Board shall select a Vice-Chairperson. The 
Vice-Chairperson serves at the pleasure of the Board. 

 
(c)  The Secretary of the Board serves at the pleasure of the Board and need 

not be a member of the Board.  The Secretary shall be responsible for 
maintaining the minutes of Board meetings and may have other duties 
assigned by the Board from time to time.  An employee of the District 
Manager may serve as Secretary.  The Secretary shall be bonded by a 
reputable and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one 
million dollars ($1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee 
theft insurance policy, or a comparable product in at least the amount of 
one million dollars ($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional 
insured. 

 
(d)  The Treasurer need not be a member of the Board but must be a resident 

of the State of Florida.  The Treasurer shall perform duties described in 
Section 190.007(2) and (3) of the Florida Statutes, as well as those 
assigned by the Board from time to time.  The Treasurer shall serve at the 
pleasure of the Board. The Treasurer shall either be bonded by a reputable 
and qualified bonding company in at least the amount of one million 
dollars ($1,000,000), or have in place a fidelity bond, employee theft 
insurance policy, or a comparable product in at least the amount of one 
million dollars ($1,000,000) that names the District as an additional 
insured. 

 
(e)  In the event that both the Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson are absent 

from a Board meeting and a quorum is present, the Board may designate 
one of its members or a member of District staff to convene and conduct 
the meeting.  In such circumstances, any of the Board members present are 
authorized to execute agreements, resolutions, and other documents 
approved by the Board at such meeting.  In the event that the Chairperson 
and Vice-Chairperson are both unavailable to execute a document 
previously approved by the Board, the Secretary or any Assistant 
Secretary may execute such document. 

 



 

5 
 

(f)  The Board may assign additional duties to District officers from time to 
time, which include, but are not limited to, executing documents on behalf 
of the District. 

 
(g)  The Chairperson, Vice-Chairperson, and any other person authorized by 

District Resolution may sign checks and warrants for the District, 
countersigned by the Treasurer or other persons authorized by the Board. 

 
(3) Committees. The Board may establish committees of the Board, either on a 

permanent or temporary basis, to perform specifically designated functions. 
Committees may include individuals who are not members of the Board.  Such 
functions may include, but are not limited to, review of bids, proposals, and 
qualifications, contract negotiations, personnel matters, and budget preparation. 

 
(4) Record Book. The Board shall keep a permanent record book entitled “Record of 

Proceedings,” in which shall be recorded minutes of all meetings, resolutions, 
proceedings, certificates, and corporate acts.  The Records of Proceedings shall be 
located at a District office and shall be available for inspection by the public.   

 
(5) Meetings. For each fiscal year, the Board shall establish a schedule of regular 

meetings, which shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county in which the District is located and filed with the local general-purpose 
governments within whose boundaries the District is located.  All meetings of the 
Board and Committees serving an advisory function shall be open to the public in 
accord with the provisions of Chapter 286 of the Florida Statutes.   

 
(6) Voting Conflict of Interest.  The Board shall comply with Section 112.3143 of the 

Florida Statutes, so as to ensure the proper disclosure of conflicts of interest on 
matters coming before the Board for a vote.  For the purposes of this section, 
"voting conflict of interest" shall be governed by the Florida Constitution and 
Chapters 112 and 190 of the Florida Statutes, as amended from time to time.  
Generally, a voting conflict exists when a Board member is called upon to vote on 
an item which would inure to the Board member’s special private gain or loss or 
the Board member knows would inure to the special private gain or loss of a 
principal by whom the Board member is retained, the parent organization or 
subsidiary of a corporate principal, a business associate, or a relative including 
only a father, mother, son, daughter, husband, wife, brother, sister, father-in-law, 
mother-in-law, son-in-law, and daughter-in-law. 

 
(a)  When a Board member knows the member has a conflict of interest on a 

matter coming before the Board, the member should notify the Board’s 
Secretary prior to participating in any discussion with the Board on the 
matter.  The member shall publicly announce the conflict of interest at the 
meeting.  This announcement shall appear in the minutes.   

 



 

6 
 

  If the Board member was elected at a landowner’s election or appointed to 
fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner’s election, the Board 
member may vote or abstain from voting on the matter at issue.  If the 
Board member was elected by electors residing within the District, the 
Board member is prohibited from voting on the matter at issue.  In the 
event that the Board member intends to abstain or is prohibited from 
voting, such Board member shall not participate in the discussion on the 
item subject to the vote. 

  
  The Board’s Secretary shall prepare a Memorandum of Voting Conflict 

(Form 8B) which shall then be signed by the Board member, filed with the 
Board’s Secretary, and provided for attachment to the minutes of the 
meeting within fifteen (15) days of the meeting.    

 
(b)  If a Board member inadvertently votes on a matter and later learns he or 

she has a conflict on the matter, the member shall immediately notify the 
Board’s Secretary. Within fifteen (15) days of the notification, the member 
shall file the appropriate Memorandum of Voting Conflict, which will be 
attached to the minutes of the Board meeting during which the vote on the 
matter occurred. The Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall immediately 
be provided to other Board members and shall be read publicly at the next 
meeting held subsequent to the filing of the Memorandum of Voting 
Conflict.  The Board member’s vote is unaffected by this filing. 

 
(c)  It is not a conflict of interest for a Board member, the District Manager, or 

an employee of the District to be a stockholder, officer or employee of a 
landowner or of an entity affiliated with a landowner.   

 
(d)  In the event that a Board member elected at a landowner’s election or 

appointed to fill a vacancy of a seat last filled at a landowner’s election, 
has a continuing conflict of interest, such Board member is permitted to 
file a Memorandum of Voting Conflict at any time in which it shall state 
the nature of the continuing conflict.  Only one such continuing 
Memorandum of Voting Conflict shall be required to be filed for each 
term the Board member is in office. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 112.3143, 190.006, 190.007, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

7 
 

Rule 1.2  District Offices; Public Information and Inspection of Records; Policies; 
Service Contract Requirements; Financial Disclosure Coordination. 

 
(1) District Offices.  Unless otherwise designated by the Board, the official District 

office shall be the District Manager’s office identified by the District Manager.  If 
the District Manager’s office is not located within the county in which the District 
is located, the Board shall designate a local records office within such county 
which shall at a minimum contain, but not be limited to, the following documents: 

 
 (a)  Agenda packages for prior 24 months and next meeting; 
 
 (b)  Official minutes of meetings, including adopted resolutions of the Board; 
 
 (c)  Names and addresses of current Board members and District Manager, 

unless such addresses are protected from disclosure by law; 
 
 (d)  Adopted engineer’s reports; 
 
 (e)  Adopted assessment methodologies/reports; 
 
 (f)  Adopted disclosure of public financing; 
 
 (g)  Limited Offering Memorandum for each financing undertaken by the 

District; 
 
 (h)  Proceedings, certificates, bonds given by all employees, and any and all 

corporate acts; 
 
 (i)  District policies and rules; 
 
 (j) Fiscal year end audits; and 
 
 (k) Adopted budget for the current fiscal year. 
 
 The District Manager shall ensure that each District records office contains the 

documents required by Florida law. 
 
(2) Public Records.  District public records include all documents, papers, letters, 

maps, books, tapes, photographs, films, sound recordings, data processing 
software, or other material, regardless of the physical form, characteristics, or 
means of transmission, made or received in connection with the transaction of 
official business of the District. All District public records not otherwise restricted 
by law may be copied or inspected at the District Manager’s office during regular 
business hours.  Certain District records can also be inspected and copied at the 
District’s local records office during regular business hours.  All written public 
records requests shall be directed to the Secretary who by these rules is appointed 



 

8 
 

as the District’s records custodian.  Regardless of the form of the request, any 
Board member or staff member who receives a public records request shall 
immediately forward or communicate such request to the Secretary for 
coordination of a prompt response.  The Secretary, after consulting with District 
Counsel as to the applicability of any exceptions under the public records laws, 
shall be responsible for responding to the public records request.  At no time can 
the District be required to create records or summaries of records, or prepare 
opinions regarding District policies, in response to a public records request. 

 
(3)  Service Contracts.  Any contract for services, regardless of cost, shall include 

provisions required by law that require the contractor to comply with public 
records laws.  The District Manager shall be responsible for initially enforcing all 
contract provisions related to a contractor’s duty to comply with public records 
laws. 

 
(4) Fees; Copies. Copies of public records shall be made available to the requesting 

person at a charge of $0.15 per page for one-sided copies and $0.20 per page for 
two-sided copies if not more than 8 ½ by 14 inches.  For copies of public records 
in excess of the sizes listed in this section and for outside duplication services, the 
charge shall be equal to the actual cost of reproduction. Certified copies of public 
records shall be made available at a charge of one dollar ($1.00) per page. If the 
nature or volume of records requested requires extensive use of information 
technology resources or extensive clerical or supervisory assistance, the District 
may charge, in addition to the duplication charge, a special service charge that is 
based on the cost the District incurs to produce the records requested.  This charge 
may include, but is not limited to, the cost of information technology resource, 
employee labor, and fees charged to the District by consultants employed in 
fulfilling the request.  In cases where the special service charge is based in whole 
or in part on the costs incurred by the District due to employee labor, consultant 
fees, or other forms of labor, those portions of the charge shall be calculated based 
on the lowest labor cost of the individual(s) who is/are qualified to perform the 
labor, taking into account the nature or volume of the public records to be 
inspected or copied. The charge may include the labor costs of supervisory and/or 
clerical staff whose assistance is required to complete the records request, in 
accordance with Florida law.  For purposes of this Rule, the word “extensive” 
shall mean that it will take more than 15 minutes to locate, review for confidential 
information, copy and re-file the requested material.  In cases where extensive 
personnel time is determined by the District to be necessary to safeguard original 
records being inspected, the special service charge provided for in this section 
shall apply.  If the total fees, including but not limited to special service charges, 
are anticipated to exceed twenty-five dollars ($25.00), then, prior to commencing 
work on the request, the District will inform the person making the public records 
request of the estimated cost, with the understanding that the final cost may vary 
from that estimate.  If the person making the public records request decides to 
proceed with the request, payment of the estimated cost is required in advance. 
Should the person fail to pay the estimate, the District is under no duty to produce 



 

9 
 

the requested records.  After the request has been fulfilled, additional payments or 
credits may be due. The District is under no duty to produce records in response 
to future records requests if the person making the request owes the District for 
past unpaid duplication charges, special service charges, or other required 
payments or credits. 

 
(5) Records Retention.  The Secretary of the District shall be responsible for retaining 

the District’s records in accordance with applicable Florida law. 
 
(6) Policies.  The Board may adopt policies related to the conduct of its business and 

the provision of services either by resolution or motion.   
 
(7) Financial Disclosure Coordination.  Unless specifically designated by Board 

resolution otherwise, the Secretary shall serve as the Financial Disclosure 
Coordinator (“Coordinator”) for the District as required by the Florida 
Commission on Ethics (“Commission”).  The Coordinator shall create, maintain 
and update a list of the names, e-mail addresses, physical addresses, and names of 
the agency of, and the office or position held by, all Supervisors and other persons 
required by Florida law to file a statement of financial interest due to his or her 
affiliation with the District (“Reporting Individual”).  The Coordinator shall 
provide this list to the Commission by February 1 of each year, which list shall be 
current as of December 31 of the prior year.  Each Supervisor and Reporting 
Individual shall promptly notify the Coordinator in writing if there are any 
changes to such person’s name, e-mail address, or physical address. Each 
Supervisor and Reporting Individual shall promptly notify the Commission in the 
manner prescribed by the Commission if there are any changes to such person’s e-
mail address. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 112.31446(3), 112.3145(8)(a)1., 119.07, 119.0701, 190.006, Fla. Stat. 



 

10 
 

Rule 1.3 Public Meetings, Hearings, and Workshops. 
 

(1) Notice. Except in emergencies, or as otherwise required by statute or these Rules, 
at least seven (7) days, but no more than thirty (30) days public notice shall be 
given of any public meeting, hearing or workshop of the Board. Public notice 
shall be given by publication in a newspaper of general circulation in the District 
and in the county in which the District is located.  “General circulation” means a 
publication that is printed and published at least once a week for the preceding 
year, offering at least 25% of its words in the English language, qualifies as a 
periodicals material for postal purposes in the county in which the District is 
located, is for sale to the public generally, is available to the public generally for 
the publication of official or other notices, and is customarily containing 
information of a public character or of interest or of value to the residents or 
owners of property in the county where published, or of interest or of value to the 
general public.  The annual meeting notice required to be published by Section 
189.015 of the Florida Statutes, shall be published in a newspaper not of limited 
subject matter, which is published at least five days a week, unless the only 
newspaper in the county is published less than five days a week.  Each Notice 
shall state, as applicable: 

 
(a)  The date, time and place of the meeting, hearing or workshop; 
 
(b)  A brief description of the nature, subjects, and purposes of the meeting, 

hearing, or workshop; 
 

(c)  The District office address for the submission of requests for copies of the 
agenda, as well as a contact name and telephone number for verbal 
requests for copies of the agenda; and 

 
(d)  The following or substantially similar language: “Pursuant to provisions of 

the Americans with Disabilities Act, any person requiring special 
accommodations to participate in this meeting/hearing/workshop is asked 
to advise the District Office at least forty-eight (48) hours before the 
meeting/hearing/workshop by contacting the District Manager at (407) 
723-5900. If you are hearing or speech impaired, please contact the 
Florida Relay Service at 1 (800) 955-8770 or 1 (800) 955-8771, who can 
aid you in contacting the District Office.” 

 
(e)  The following or substantially similar language: “A person who decides to 

appeal any decision made at the meeting/hearing/workshop with respect to 
any matter considered at the meeting/hearing/workshop is advised that 
person will need a record of the proceedings and that accordingly, the 
person may need to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings is 
made including the testimony and evidence upon which the appeal is to be 
based.” 

 



 

11 
 

(f)  The following or substantially similar language: “The meeting [or hearing 
or workshop] may be continued in progress without additional notice to a 
time, date, and location stated on the record.” 

 
 (2) Mistake.  In the event that a meeting is held under the incorrect assumption that 

notice required by law and these Rules has been given, the Board at its next 
properly noticed meeting shall cure such defect by considering the agenda items 
from the prior meeting individually and anew.   

 
(3) Agenda. The District Manager, under the guidance of District Counsel and the 

Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson, shall prepare an agenda of the 
meeting/hearing/workshop.  The agenda and any meeting materials available in an 
electronic format, excluding any confidential and any confidential and exempt 
information, shall be available to the public at least seven days before the 
meeting/hearing/workshop, except in an emergency.  Meeting materials shall be 
defined as, and limited to, the agenda, meeting minutes, resolutions, and 
agreements of the District that District staff deems necessary for Board approval. 
Inclusion of additional materials for Board consideration other than those defined 
herein as “meeting materials” shall not convert such materials into “meeting 
materials.” For good cause, the agenda may be changed after it is first made 
available for distribution, and additional materials may be added or provided 
under separate cover at the meeting.  The requirement of good cause shall be 
liberally construed to allow the District to efficiently conduct business and to 
avoid the expenses associated with special meetings. 
 
The District may, but is not required to, use the following format in preparing its 
agenda for its regular meetings: 

 
Call to order 
Roll call 
Public comment 
Organizational matters 
Review of minutes 
Specific items of old business 
Specific items of new business 
Staff reports 

(a)  District Counsel 
(b)  District Engineer 
(c)  District Manager 

1.  Financial Report 
2.  Approval of Expenditures 

Supervisor’s requests and comments 
Public comment 
Adjournment 
 



 

12 
 

(4) Minutes. The Secretary shall be responsible for preparing and keeping the minutes 
of each meeting of the Board. Minutes shall be corrected and approved by the 
Board at a subsequent meeting.  The Secretary may work with other staff 
members in preparing draft minutes for the Board’s consideration. 

 
(5) Special Requests.  Persons wishing to receive, by mail, notices or agendas of 

meetings, may so advise the District Manager or Secretary at the District Office. 
Such persons shall furnish a mailing address in writing and shall be required to 
pre-pay the cost of the copying and postage. 

 
(6) Emergency Meetings. The Chairperson, or Vice-Chairperson if the Chairperson is 

unavailable, upon consultation with the District Manager and District Counsel, if 
available, may convene an emergency meeting of the Board without first having 
complied with sections (1) and (3) of this Rule, to act on emergency matters that 
may affect the public health, safety, or welfare.  Whenever possible, the District 
Manager shall make reasonable efforts to provide public notice and notify all 
Board members of an emergency meeting twenty-four (24) hours in advance.  
Reasonable efforts may include telephone notification.  Notice of the emergency 
meeting must be provided both before and after the meeting on the District’s 
website, if it has one.  Whenever an emergency meeting is called, the District 
Manager shall be responsible for notifying at least one newspaper of general 
circulation in the District. After an emergency meeting, the Board shall publish in 
a newspaper of general circulation in the District, the time, date and place of the 
emergency meeting, the reasons why an emergency meeting was necessary, and a 
description of the action taken.  Actions taken at an emergency meeting may be 
ratified by the Board at a regularly noticed meeting subsequently held. 

 
(7) Public Comment. The Board shall set aside a reasonable amount of time at each 

meeting for public comment and members of the public shall be permitted to 
provide comment on any proposition before the Board.  The portion of the 
meeting generally reserved for public comment shall be identified in the agenda.  
Policies governing public comment may be adopted by the Board in accordance 
with Florida law. 

 
(8) Budget Hearing. Notice of hearing on the annual budget(s) shall be in accord with 

Section 190.008 of the Florida Statutes.  Once adopted in accord with Section 
190.008 of the Florida Statutes, the annual budget(s) may be amended from time 
to time by action of the Board.  Approval of invoices by the Board in excess of 
the funds allocated to a particular budgeted line item shall serve to amend the 
budgeted line item.  

 
(9) Public Hearings.  Notice of required public hearings shall contain the information 

required by applicable Florida law and by these Rules applicable to meeting 
notices and shall be mailed and published as required by Florida law.  The District 
Manager shall ensure that all such notices, whether mailed or published, contain 
the information required by Florida law and these Rules and are mailed and 



 

13 
 

published as required by Florida law.  Public hearings may be held during Board 
meetings when the agenda includes such public hearing. 

 
 (10) Participation by Teleconference/Videoconference.  District staff may participate 

in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference.  Board members may 
also participate in Board meetings by teleconference or videoconference if in the 
good judgment of the Board extraordinary circumstances exist; provided however, 
at least three Board members must be physically present at the meeting location to 
establish a quorum.  Such extraordinary circumstances shall be presumed when a 
Board member participates by teleconference or videoconference, unless a 
majority of the Board members physically present determines that extraordinary 
circumstances do not exist. 

 
 (11) Board Authorization.  The District has not adopted Robert’s Rules of Order.  For 

each agenda item, there shall be discussion permitted among the Board members 
during the meeting.  Unless such procedure is waived by the Board, approval or 
disapproval of resolutions and other proposed Board actions shall be in the form 
of a motion by one Board member, a second by another Board member, and an 
affirmative vote by the majority of the Board members present.  Any Board 
member, including the Chairperson, can make or second a motion. 

 
(12) Continuances. Any meeting or public hearing of the Board may be continued 

without re-notice or re-advertising provided that: 
 

(a) The Board identifies on the record at the original meeting a reasonable 
need for a continuance; 

 
(b) The continuance is to a specified date, time, and location publicly 

announced at the original meeting; and 
 
(c) The public notice for the original meeting states that the meeting may be 

continued to a date and time and states that the date, time, and location of 
any continuance shall be publicly announced at the original meeting and 
posted at the District Office immediately following the original meeting. 

 
(13) Attorney-Client Sessions.  An Attorney-Client Session is permitted when the 

District’s attorneys deem it necessary to meet in private with the Board to discuss 
pending litigation to which the District is a party before a court or administrative 
agency or as may be authorized by law. The District’s attorney must request such 
session at a public meeting. Prior to holding the Attorney-Client Session, the 
District must give reasonable public notice of the time and date of the session and 
the names of the persons anticipated to attend the session. The session must 
commence at an open meeting in which the Chairperson or Vice-Chairperson 
announces the commencement of the session, the estimated length of the session, 
and the names of the persons who will be attending the session.  The discussion 
during the session is confined to settlement negotiations or strategy related to 



 

14 
 

litigation expenses or as may be authorized by law.  Only the Board, the District’s 
attorneys (including outside counsel), the District Manager, and the court reporter 
may attend an Attorney-Client Session.  During the session, no votes may be 
taken and no final decisions concerning settlement can be made.  Upon the 
conclusion of the session, the public meeting is reopened, and the Chairperson or 
Vice-Chairperson must announce that the session has concluded.  The session 
must be transcribed by a court-reporter and the transcript of the session filed with 
the District Secretary within a reasonable time after the session.  The transcript 
shall not be available for public inspection until after the conclusion of the 
litigation.  

 
(14) Security and Firesafety Board Discussions. Portions of a meeting which relate to 

or would reveal a security or firesafety system plan or portion thereof made 
confidential and exempt by section 119.071(3)(a), Florida Statutes, are exempt 
from the public meeting requirements and other requirements of section 286.011, 
Florida Statutes, and section 24(b), Article 1 of the State Constitution. Should the 
Board wish to discuss such matters, members of the public shall be required to 
leave the meeting room during such discussion. Any records of the Board’s 
discussion of such matters, including recordings or minutes, shall be maintained 
as confidential and exempt records in accordance with Florida law. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 189.069(2)(a)16, 190.006, 190.007, 190.008, 286.0105, 286.011, 286.0113, 286.0114, Fla. Stat. 



 

15 
 

Rule 1.4 Internal Controls to Prevent Fraud, Waste and Abuse 
 

(1) Internal Controls.  The District shall establish and maintain internal 
controls designed to: 

 
(a) Prevent and detect “fraud,” “waste” and “abuse” as those terms are 

defined in section 11.45(1), Florida Statutes; and 
(b) Promote and encourage compliance with applicable laws, rules 

contracts, grant agreements, and best practices; and 
(c) Support economical and efficient operations; and 
(d) Ensure reliability of financial records and reports; and 
(e) Safeguard assets. 

 
(2) Adoption.  The internal controls to prevent fraud, waste and abuse shall be 

adopted and amended by the District in the same manner as District 
policies.  

 
 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  § 218.33(3), Fla. Stat. 
 



 

16 
 

Rule 2.0  Rulemaking Proceedings.   
 

(1) Commencement of Proceedings.  Proceedings held for adoption, amendment, or 
repeal of a District rule shall be conducted according to these Rules.  Rulemaking 
proceedings shall be deemed to have been initiated upon publication of notice by 
the District. A “rule” is a District statement of general applicability that 
implements, interprets, or prescribes law or policy, or describes the procedure or 
practice requirements of the District (“Rule”).  Nothing herein shall be construed 
as requiring the District to consider or adopt rules unless required by Chapter 190 
of the Florida Statutes.  Policies adopted by the District which do not consist of 
rates, fees, rentals or other monetary charges may be, but are not required to be, 
implemented through rulemaking proceedings. 

 
(2) Notice of Rule Development. 

 
(a)  Except when the intended action is the repeal of a Rule, the District shall 

provide notice of the development of a proposed rule by publication of a 
Notice of Rule Development in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
District before providing notice of a proposed rule as required by section 
(3) of this Rule.  Consequently, the Notice of Rule Development shall be 
published at least twenty-nine (29) days prior to the public hearing on the 
proposed Rule.  The Notice of Rule Development shall indicate the subject 
area to be addressed by rule development, provide a short, plain 
explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed rule, cite the specific 
legal authority for the proposed rule, and include a statement of how a 
person may promptly obtain, without cost, a copy of any preliminary draft, 
if available. 

 
    (b) All rules as drafted shall be consistent with Sections 120.54(1)(g) and 

120.54(2)(b) of the Florida Statutes. 
 

(3) Notice of Proceedings and Proposed Rules. 
 

(a) Prior to the adoption, amendment, or repeal of any rule other than an 
emergency rule, the District shall give notice of its intended action, setting 
forth a short, plain explanation of the purpose and effect of the proposed 
action, a reference to the specific rulemaking authority pursuant to which 
the rule is adopted, and a reference to the section or subsection of the 
Florida Statutes being implemented, interpreted, or made specific.  The 
notice shall include a summary of the District’s statement of the estimated 
regulatory costs, if one has been prepared, based on the factors set forth in 
Section 120.541(2) of the Florida Statutes, and a statement that any person 
who wishes to provide the District with a lower cost regulatory alternative 
as provided by Section 120.541(1), must do so in writing within twenty-
one (21) days after publication of the notice.  The notice shall additionally 
include a statement that any affected person may request a public hearing 



 

17 
 

by submitting a written request within twenty-one (21) days after the date 
of publication of the notice.  Except when intended action is the repeal of 
a rule, the notice shall include a reference to both the date on which and 
the place where the Notice of Rule Development required by section (2) of 
this Rule appeared. 

 
(b) The notice shall be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 

District and each county in which the District is located not less than 
twenty-eight (28) days prior to the intended action. The proposed rule 
shall be available for inspection and copying by the public at the time of 
the publication of notice. 

 
(c) The notice shall be mailed to all persons named in the proposed rule and to 

all persons who, at least fourteen (14) days prior to such mailing, have 
made requests of the District for advance notice of its rulemaking 
proceedings.  Any person may file a written request with the District 
Manager to receive notice by mail of District proceedings to adopt, 
amend, or repeal a rule.  Such persons must furnish a mailing address and 
may be required to pay the cost of copying and mailing.   

 
(4) Rule Development Workshops.  Whenever requested in writing by any affected 

person, the District must either conduct a rule development workshop prior to 
proposing rules for adoption or the Chairperson must explain in writing why a 
workshop is unnecessary.  The District may initiate a rule development workshop 
but is not required to do so. 

 
(5) Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking.  All Petitions to Initiate Rulemaking proceedings 

must contain the name, address, and telephone number of the petitioner, the 
specific action requested, the specific reason for adoption, amendment, or repeal, 
the date submitted, the text of the proposed rule, and the facts showing that the 
petitioner is regulated by the District or has a substantial interest in the 
rulemaking.  Not later than sixty (60) calendar days following the date of filing a 
petition, the Board shall initiate rulemaking proceedings or deny the petition with 
a written statement of its reasons for the denial.  If the petition is directed to an 
existing policy that the District has not formally adopted as a rule, the District 
may, in its discretion, notice and hold a public hearing on the petition to consider 
the comments of the public directed to the policy, its scope and application, and to 
consider whether the public interest is served adequately by the application of the 
policy on a case-by-case basis, as contrasted with its formal adoption as a rule.  
However, this section shall not be construed as requiring the District to adopt a 
rule to replace a policy. 

 
(6) Rulemaking Materials.  After the publication of the notice referenced in section 

(3) of this Rule, the Board shall make available for public inspection and shall 
provide, upon request and payment of the cost of copies, the following materials: 
 



 

18 
 

(a) The text of the proposed rule, or any amendment or repeal of any existing 
rules; 

 
(b) A detailed written statement of the facts and circumstances justifying the   
 proposed rule; 

 
  (c) A copy of the statement of estimated regulatory costs if required by 

Section 120.541 of the Florida Statutes; and 
 

(d) The published notice. 
 

(7) Hearing.  The District may, or, upon the written request of any affected person 
received within twenty-one (21) days after the date of publication of the notice 
described in section (3) of this Rule, shall, provide a public hearing for the 
presentation of evidence, argument, and oral statements, within the reasonable 
conditions and limitations imposed by the District to avoid duplication, irrelevant 
comments, unnecessary delay, or disruption of the proceedings.  The District shall 
publish notice of the public hearing in a newspaper of general circulation within 
the District either in the text of the notice described in section (3) of this Rule or in 
a separate publication at least seven (7) days before the scheduled public hearing.  
The notice shall specify the date, time, and location of the public hearing, and the 
name, address, and telephone number of the District contact person who can 
provide information about the public hearing. Written statements may be submitted 
by any person prior to or at the public hearing.  All timely submitted written 
statements shall be considered by the District and made part of the rulemaking 
record. 

 
(8) Emergency Rule Adoption.  The Board may adopt an emergency rule if it finds 

that immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare exists which 
requires immediate action. Prior to the adoption of an emergency rule, the District 
Manager shall make reasonable efforts to notify a newspaper of general 
circulation in the District. Notice of emergency rules shall be published as soon as 
possible in a newspaper of general circulation in the District.  The District may 
use any procedure which is fair under the circumstances in the adoption of an 
emergency rule as long as it protects the public interest as determined by the 
District and otherwise complies with these provisions. 

 
(9) Negotiated Rulemaking.  The District may use negotiated rulemaking in 

developing and adopting rules pursuant to Section 120.54(2)(d) of the Florida 
Statutes, except that any notices required under Section 120.54(2)(d) of the 
Florida Statutes, may be published in a newspaper of general circulation in the 
county in which the District is located. 

 
(10) Rulemaking Record.  In all rulemaking proceedings, the District shall compile 

and maintain a rulemaking record.  The record shall include, if applicable: 
 



 

19 
 

 (a) The texts of the proposed rule and the adopted rule;  
 
 (b) All notices given for a proposed rule;  
 
 (c) Any statement of estimated regulatory costs for the rule;  
 
 (d) A written summary of hearings, if any, on the proposed rule;  
 
 (e) All written comments received by the District and responses to those 

written comments; and 
 
 (f) All notices and findings pertaining to an emergency rule. 
 

 (11)  Petitions to Challenge Existing Rules.   
 
  (a)   Any person substantially affected by a rule may seek an administrative 

determination of the invalidity of the rule on the ground that the rule is an 
invalid exercise of the District’s authority.  

(b)   The petition seeking an administrative determination must state with 
particularity the provisions alleged to be invalid with sufficient 
explanation of the facts or grounds for the alleged invalidity and facts 
sufficient to show that the person challenging a rule is substantially 
affected by it.  

(c)   The petition shall be filed with the District. Within 10 days after receiving 
the petition, the Chairperson shall, if the petition complies with the 
requirements of subsection (b) of this section, designate any member of 
the Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, 
or other person as a hearing officer who shall conduct a hearing within 30 
days thereafter, unless the petition is withdrawn or a continuance is 
granted by agreement of the parties.  The failure of the District to follow 
the applicable rulemaking procedures or requirements in this Rule shall be 
presumed to be material; however, the District may rebut this presumption 
by showing that the substantial interests of the petitioner and the fairness 
of the proceedings have not been impaired.  

(d)   Within 30 days after the hearing, the hearing officer shall render a 
decision and state the reasons therefor in writing.   

(e)   Hearings held under this section shall be de novo in nature. The petitioner 
has a burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that the 
existing rule is an invalid exercise of District authority as to the objections 
raised. The hearing officer may: 

   (i) Administer oaths and affirmations; 



 

20 
 

 
   (ii) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence; 
 
   (iii) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing 

matters; 
 
   (iv) Enter orders; and 
 
   (v) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment. 

(f) The petitioner and the District shall be adverse parties. Other substantially 
affected persons may join the proceedings as intervenors on appropriate 
terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings.  

(12) Variances and Waivers.  A “variance” means a decision by the District to grant a 
modification to all or part of the literal requirements of a rule to a person who is 
subject to the rule.  A “waiver” means a decision by the District not to apply all or 
part of a rule to a person who is subject to the rule.  Variances and waivers from 
District rules may be granted subject to the following: 

 
 (a)  Variances and waivers shall be granted when the person subject to the rule 

demonstrates that the purpose of the underlying statute will be or has been 
achieved by other means by the person, and when application of the rule 
would create a substantial hardship or would violate principles of fairness. 
For purposes of this section, "substantial hardship" means a demonstrated 
economic, technological, legal, or other type of hardship to the person 
requesting the variance or waiver. For purposes of this section, "principles 
of fairness" are violated when the literal application of a rule affects a 
particular person in a manner significantly different from the way it affects 
other similarly situated persons who are subject to the rule. 

 
 (b)  A person who is subject to regulation by a District Rule may file a petition 

with the District, requesting a variance or waiver from the District’s Rule. 
Each petition shall specify:  

 
  (i)  The rule from which a variance or waiver is requested; 
 
  (ii)  The type of action requested; 
 

 (iii)  The specific facts that would justify a waiver or variance for the 
petitioner; and 

 (iv)   The reason why the variance or the waiver requested would serve 
the purposes of the underlying statute.  

 
(c)  The District shall review the petition and may request only that 

information needed to clarify the petition or to answer new questions 



 

21 
 

raised by or directly related to the petition. If the petitioner asserts that any 
request for additional information is not authorized by law or by Rule of 
the District, the District shall proceed, at the petitioner’s written request, to 
process the petition. 

 
(d)  The Board shall grant or deny a petition for variance or waiver and shall 

announce such disposition at a publicly held meeting of the Board, within 
ninety (90) days after receipt of the original petition, the last item of 
timely requested additional material, or the petitioner's written request to 
finish processing the petition. The District’s statement granting or denying 
the petition shall contain a statement of the relevant facts and reasons 
supporting the District's action. 

 
(13)  Rates, Fees, Rentals and Other Charges.  All rates, fees, rentals, or other charges 

shall be subject to rulemaking proceedings.  Policies adopted by the District 
which do not consist of rates, fees, rentals or other charges may be, but are not 
required to be, implemented through rulemaking proceedings.   

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.035, Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.035(2), Fla. Stat. 
 



 

22 
 

Rule 3.0 Competitive Purchase. 
 
(1)  Purpose and Scope.  In order to comply with Sections 190.033(1) through (3), 

287.055 and 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, the following provisions shall apply 
to the purchase of Professional Services, insurance, construction contracts, 
design-build services, goods, supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and 
maintenance services. 

 
 (2) Board Authorization.  Except in cases of an Emergency Purchase, a competitive 

purchase governed by these Rules shall only be undertaken after authorization by 
the Board. 

 
(3)  Definitions. 

 
(a) “Competitive Solicitation” means a formal, advertised procurement 

process, other than an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, or 
Invitation to Negotiate, approved by the Board to purchase commodities 
and/or services which affords vendors fair treatment in the competition for 
award of a District purchase contract. 

 
(b) “Continuing Contract” means a contract for Professional Services entered 

into in accordance with Section 287.055 of the Florida Statutes, between 
the District and a firm, whereby the firm provides Professional Services to 
the District for projects in which the costs do not exceed two million 
dollars ($2,000,000), for a study activity when the fee for such 
Professional Services to the District does not exceed two hundred 
thousand dollars ($200,000), or for work of a specified nature as outlined 
in the contract with the District, with no time limitation except that the 
contract must provide a termination clause (for example, a contract for 
general District engineering services).  Firms providing Professional 
Services under Continuing Contracts shall not be required to bid against 
one another.  
 

(c) “Contractual Service” means the rendering by a contractor of its time and 
effort rather than the furnishing of specific commodities.  The term applies 
only to those services rendered by individuals and firms who are 
independent contractors.  Contractual Services do not include auditing 
services, Maintenance Services, or Professional Services as defined in 
Section 287.055(2)(a) of the Florida Statutes, and these Rules.  
Contractual Services also do not include any contract for the furnishing of 
labor or materials for the construction, renovation, repair, modification, or 
demolition of any facility, building, portion of building, utility, park, 
parking lot, or structure or other improvement to real property entered into 
pursuant to Chapter 255 of the Florida Statutes, and Rules 3.5 or 3.6. 

 



 

23 
 

(d) “Design-Build Contract” means a single contract with a Design-Build 
Firm for the design and construction of a public construction project. 
 

(e) “Design-Build Firm” means a partnership, corporation or other legal entity 
that: 

 
(i)  Is certified under Section 489.119 of the Florida Statutes, to 

engage in contracting through a certified or registered general 
contractor or a certified or registered building contractor as the 
qualifying agent; or 

 
(ii)  Is certified under Section 471.023 of the Florida Statutes, to 

practice or to offer to practice engineering; certified under Section 
481.219 of the Florida Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice 
architecture; or certified under Section 481.319 of the Florida 
Statutes, to practice or to offer to practice landscape architecture. 

 
(f) “Design Criteria Package” means concise, performance-oriented drawings 

or specifications for a public construction project.  The purpose of the 
Design Criteria Package is to furnish sufficient information to permit 
Design-Build Firms to prepare a bid or a response to the District’s Request 
for Proposals, or to permit the District to enter into a negotiated Design-
Build Contract.  The Design Criteria Package must specify performance-
based criteria for the public construction project, including the legal 
description of the site, survey information concerning the site, interior 
space requirements, material quality standards, schematic layouts and 
conceptual design criteria of the project, cost or budget estimates, design 
and construction schedules, site development requirements, provisions for 
utilities, stormwater retention and disposal, and parking requirements 
applicable to the project. Design Criteria Packages shall require firms to 
submit information regarding the qualifications, availability, and past 
work of the firms, including the partners and members thereof. 

 
(g) “Design Criteria Professional” means a firm who holds a current 

certificate of registration under Chapter 481 of the Florida Statutes, to 
practice architecture or landscape architecture, or a firm who holds a 
current certificate as a registered engineer under Chapter 471 of the 
Florida Statutes, to practice engineering, and who is employed by or under 
contract to the District to provide professional architect services, 
landscape architect services, or engineering services in connection with 
the preparation of the Design Criteria Package. 

 
(h) “Emergency Purchase” means a purchase necessitated by a sudden 

unexpected turn of events (for example, acts of God, riot, fires, floods, 
hurricanes, accidents, or any circumstances or cause beyond the control of 
the Board in the normal conduct of its business), where the Board finds 



 

24 
 

that the delay incident to competitive purchase would be detrimental to the 
interests of the District. This includes, but is not limited to, instances 
where the time to competitively award the project will jeopardize the 
funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the project, or 
will create an undue hardship on the public health, safety, or welfare. 

 
(i)  “Invitation to Bid” is a written solicitation for sealed bids with the title, 

date, and hour of the public bid opening designated specifically and 
defining the commodity or service involved.  It includes printed 
instructions prescribing conditions for bidding, qualification, evaluation 
criteria, and provides for a manual signature of an authorized 
representative.  It may include one or more bid alternates. 
 

(j) “Invitation to Negotiate” means a written solicitation for competitive 
sealed replies to select one or more vendors with which to commence 
negotiations for the procurement of commodities or services.   

 
(k)  “Negotiate” means to conduct legitimate, arm’s length discussions and 

conferences to reach an agreement on a term or price.   
 
(l) “Professional Services” means those services within the scope of the 

practice of architecture, professional engineering, landscape architecture, 
or registered surveying and mapping, as defined by the laws of Florida, or 
those services performed by any architect, professional engineer, 
landscape architect, or registered surveyor and mapper, in connection with 
the firm's or individual's professional employment or practice. 

 
(m) “Proposal (or Reply or Response) Most Advantageous to the District” 

means, as determined in the sole discretion of the Board, the proposal, 
reply, or response that is: 

 
(i)  Submitted by a person or firm capable and qualified in all respects 

to perform fully the contract requirements, who has the integrity 
and reliability to assure good faith performance; 

 
(ii)  The most responsive to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation as determined by the Board; 
and 

 
(iii)  For a cost to the District deemed by the Board to be reasonable. 

 
(n) “Purchase” means acquisition by sale, rent, lease, lease/purchase, or 

installment sale. It does not include transfer, sale, or exchange of goods, 
supplies, or materials between the District and any federal, state, regional 
or local governmental entity or political subdivision of the State of 
Florida. 



 

25 
 

 
(o) “Request for Proposals” or “RFP” is a written solicitation for sealed 

proposals with the title, date, and hour of the public opening designated 
and requiring the manual signature of an authorized representative.  It may 
provide general information, applicable laws and rules, statement of work, 
functional or general specifications, qualifications, proposal instructions, 
work detail analysis, and evaluation criteria as necessary.   
 

(p) “Responsive and Responsible Bidder” means an entity or individual that 
has submitted a bid that conforms in all material respects to the Invitation 
to Bid and has the capability in all respects to fully perform the contract 
requirements and the integrity and reliability that will assure good faith 
performance.  “Responsive and Responsible Vendor” means an entity or 
individual that has submitted a proposal, reply, or response that conforms 
in all material respects to the Request for Proposals, Invitation to 
Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and has the capability in all respects 
to fully perform the contract requirements and the integrity and reliability 
that will assure good faith performance.  In determining whether an entity 
or individual is a Responsive and Responsible Bidder (or Vendor), the 
District may consider, in addition to factors described in the Invitation to 
Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, the following: 

 
(i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 

by the entity/individual; 
 
(ii) The past performance of the entity/individual for the District and in 

other professional employment; 
 
(iii) The willingness of the entity/individual to meet time and budget 

requirements; 
 
(iv) The geographic location of the entity’s/individual’s headquarters 

or office in relation to the project; 
 
(v) The recent, current, and projected workloads of the 

entity/individual; 
 
(vi) The volume of work previously awarded to the entity/individual; 
 
(vii) Whether the cost components of the bid or proposal are 

appropriately balanced; and 
  

 (viii) Whether the entity/individual is a certified minority business 
enterprise. 

 



 

26 
 

(q) “Responsive Bid,” “Responsive Proposal,” “Responsive Reply,” and 
“Responsive Response” all mean a bid, proposal, reply, or response which 
conforms in all material respects to the specifications and conditions in the 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation document and these Rules, and the cost 
components of which, if any, are appropriately balanced.  A bid, proposal, 
reply or response is not responsive if the person or firm submitting it fails 
to meet any material requirement relating to the qualifications, financial 
stability, or licensing of the bidder. 

 
  Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
  Law Implemented:  §§ 190.033, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

27 
 

Rule 3.1 Procedure Under the Consultants' Competitive Negotiations Act. 
 
 (1) Scope.  The following procedures are adopted for the selection of firms or 

individuals to provide Professional Services exceeding the thresholds herein 
described, for the negotiation of such contracts, and to provide for protest of 
actions of the Board under this Rule.  As used in this Rule, “Project” means that 
fixed capital outlay study or planning activity when basic construction cost is 
estimated by the District to exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 
287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FIVE, or for a planning study 
activity when the fee for Professional Services is estimated by the District to 
exceed the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 for CATEGORY TWO, 
as such categories may be amended or adjusted from time to time. 

 
 (2) Qualifying Procedures.  In order to be eligible to provide Professional Services to 

the District, a consultant must, at the time of receipt of the firm’s qualification 
submittal: 

    
  (a) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good standing; 
   
  (b) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any; 
 
  (c) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized to do 

business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the 
Florida Statutes, if the consultant is a corporation; and 

 
  (d) Meet any qualification requirements set forth in the District’s Request for 

Qualifications.   
 
  Evidence of compliance with this Rule may be submitted with the qualifications, 

if requested by the District. In addition, evidence of compliance must be 
submitted any time requested by the District. 

 
 (3) Public Announcement.  Except in cases of valid public emergencies as certified 

by the Board, the District shall announce each occasion when Professional 
Services are required for a Project or a Continuing Contract by publishing a notice 
providing a general description of the Project, or the nature of the Continuing 
Contract, and the method for interested consultants to apply for consideration.  
The notice shall appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the 
District and in such other places as the District deems appropriate.  The notice 
must allow at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of qualifications from the date 
of publication. The District may maintain lists of consultants interested in 
receiving such notices. These consultants are encouraged to submit annually 
statements of qualifications and performance data.  The District shall make 
reasonable efforts to provide copies of any notices to such consultants, but the 
failure to do so shall not give such consultants any bid protest or other rights or 
otherwise disqualify any otherwise valid procurement process.  The Board has the 



 

28 
 

right to reject any and all qualifications, and such reservation shall be included in 
the published notice.  Consultants not receiving a contract award shall not be 
entitled to recover from the District any costs of qualification package preparation 
or submittal. 

 
 (4) Competitive Selection. 
 
  (a) The Board shall review and evaluate the data submitted in response to the 

notice described in section (3) of this Rule regarding qualifications and 
performance ability, as well as any statements of qualifications on file.  
The Board shall conduct discussions with, and may require public 
presentation by consultants regarding their qualifications, approach to the 
Project, and ability to furnish the required services.  The Board shall then 
select and list the consultants, in order of preference, deemed to be the 
most highly capable and qualified to perform the required Professional 
Services, after considering these and other appropriate criteria: 

 
   (i) The ability and adequacy of the professional personnel employed 

by each consultant; 
    
   (ii)  Whether a consultant is a certified minority business enterprise; 
 
   (iii) Each consultant’s past performance; 
 
   (iv) The willingness of each consultant to meet time and budget 

requirements; 
 
   (v)    The geographic location of each consultant's headquarters, office 

and personnel in relation to the project; 
 

   (vi) The recent, current, and projected workloads of each consultant; 
and 

 
   (vii) The volume of work previously awarded to each consultant by the 

District. 
 
  (b) Nothing in these Rules shall prevent the District from evaluating and 

eventually selecting a consultant if less than three (3) Responsive 
qualification packages, including packages indicating a desire not to 
provide Professional Services on a given Project, are received. 

 
  (c) If the selection process is administered by any person or committee other 

than the full Board, the selection made will be presented to the full Board 
with a recommendation that competitive negotiations be instituted with the 
selected firms in order of preference listed. 

 



 

29 
 

  (d) Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the rejection of 
some or all qualification packages, shall be provided in writing to all 
consultants by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight 
delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 
Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those 
Rules," or wording to that effect. Protests of the District’s ranking 
decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set 
forth in Rule 3.11. 

 
 (5) Competitive Negotiation. 
 
  (a) After the Board has authorized the beginning of competitive negotiations, 

the District may begin such negotiations with the firm listed as most 
qualified to perform the required Professional Services at a rate or amount 
of compensation which the Board determines is fair, competitive, and 
reasonable. 

 
  (b) In negotiating a lump-sum or cost-plus-a-fixed-fee professional contract 

for more than the threshold amount provided in Section 287.017 of the 
Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR, the firm receiving the award 
shall be required to execute a truth-in-negotiation certificate stating that 
"wage rates and other factual unit costs supporting the compensation are 
accurate, complete and current at the time of contracting."  In addition, 
any professional service contract under which such a certificate is 
required, shall contain a provision that "the original contract price and any 
additions thereto, shall be adjusted to exclude any significant sums by 
which the Board determines the contract price was increased due to 
inaccurate, incomplete, or noncurrent wage rates and other factual unit 
costs."  

 
  (c) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with 

the firm determined to be the most qualified at a price deemed by the 
District to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then negotiations with that 
firm shall be terminated and the District shall immediately begin 
negotiations with the second most qualified firm.  If a satisfactory 
agreement with the second firm cannot be reached, those negotiations 
shall be terminated and negotiations with the third most qualified firm 
shall be undertaken. 

 
  (d) Should the District be unable to negotiate a satisfactory agreement with 

one of the top three (3) ranked consultants, additional firms shall be 
selected by the District, in order of their competence and qualifications.  
Negotiations shall continue, beginning with the first-named firm on the 
list, until an agreement is reached or the list of firms is exhausted. 

 



 

30 
 

 (6) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 
into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws.  

 
 (7)  Continuing Contract.  Nothing in this Rule shall prohibit a Continuing Contract 

between a consultant and the District. 
 
 (8) Emergency Purchase.  The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these Rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred 
or is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 
 
 



 

31 
 

Rule 3.2 Procedure Regarding Auditor Selection. 
 
 In order to comply with the requirements of Section 218.391 of the Florida Statutes, the 

following procedures are outlined for selection of firms or individuals to provide 
Auditing Services and for the negotiation of such contracts.  For audits required under 
Chapter 190 of the Florida Statutes but not meeting the thresholds of Chapter 218 of the 
Florida Statutes, the District need not follow these procedures but may proceed with the 
selection of a firm or individual to provide Auditing Services and for the negotiation of 
such contracts in the manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the District. 

 
 (1) Definitions. 
 
  (a) "Auditing Services" means those services within the scope of the practice 

of a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of the 
Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with 
government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of 
Accountancy.   

 
  (b) "Committee" means the auditor selection committee appointed by the 

Board as described in section (2) of this Rule. 
 

(2) Establishment of Auditor Selection Committee.  Prior to a public announcement 
under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are required, the Board shall 
establish an auditor selection committee (“Committee”), the primary purpose of 
which is to assist the Board in selecting an auditor to conduct the annual financial 
audit required by Section 218.39 of the Florida Statutes. The Committee shall 
include at least three individuals, at least one of which must also be a member of 
the Board.  The establishment and selection of the Committee must be conducted 
at a publicly noticed and held meeting of the Board.  The Chairperson of the 
Committee must be a member of the Board.  An employee, a chief executive 
officer, or a chief financial officer of the District may not serve as a member of 
the Committee; provided however such individual may serve the Committee in an 
advisory capacity. 

 
(3) Establishment of Minimum Qualifications and Evaluation Criteria.  Prior to a 

public announcement under section (4) of this Rule that Auditing Services are 
required, the Committee shall meet at a publicly noticed meeting to establish 
minimum qualifications and factors to use for the evaluation of Auditing Services 
to be provided by a certified public accounting firm licensed under Chapter 473 of 
the Florida Statutes, and qualified to conduct audits in accordance with 
government auditing standards as adopted by the Florida Board of Accountancy. 

 
(a)  Minimum Qualifications. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a 

firm must, at all relevant times including the time of receipt of the 
proposal by the District: 

 



 

32 
 

(i)  Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing; 

 
(ii)  Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 

any; 
 
(iii)  Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 

authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a 
corporation; and 

 
(iv)  Meet any pre-qualification requirements established by the 

Committee and set forth in the RFP or other specifications.   
 

If requested in the RFP or other specifications, evidence of compliance 
with the minimum qualifications as established by the Committee must be 
submitted with the proposal. 

 
(b)  Evaluation Criteria.  The factors established for the evaluation of Auditing 

Services by the Committee shall include, but are not limited to: 
 

(i)  Ability of personnel; 
 
(ii)  Experience; 
 
(iii)  Ability to furnish the required services; and  
 
(iv)  Such other factors as may be determined by the Committee to be 

applicable to its particular requirements. 

The Committee may also choose to consider compensation as a factor.  If the 
Committee establishes compensation as one of the factors, compensation shall not 
be the sole or predominant factor used to evaluate proposals. 

(4) Public Announcement.  After identifying the factors to be used in evaluating the 
proposals for Auditing Services as set forth in section (3) of this Rule, the 
Committee shall publicly announce the opportunity to provide Auditing Services.  
Such public announcement shall include a brief description of the audit and how 
interested firms can apply for consideration and obtain the RFP.  The notice shall 
appear in at least one (1) newspaper of general circulation in the District and the 
county in which the District is located.  The public announcement shall allow for 
at least seven (7) days for the submission of proposals.  

 
(5) Request for Proposals.  The Committee shall provide interested firms with a 

Request for Proposals (“RFP”).  The RFP shall provide information on how 
proposals are to be evaluated and such other information the Committee 



 

33 
 

determines is necessary for the firm to prepare a proposal.  The RFP shall state the 
time and place for submitting proposals.   

 
(6) Committee’s Evaluation of Proposals and Recommendation.  The Committee 

shall meet at a publicly held meeting that is publicly noticed for a reasonable time 
in advance of the meeting to evaluate all qualified proposals and may, as part of 
the evaluation, require that each interested firm provide a public presentation 
where the Committee may conduct discussions with the firm, and where the firm 
may present information, regarding the firm’s qualifications.  At the public 
meeting, the Committee shall rank and recommend in order of preference no 
fewer than three firms deemed to be the most highly qualified to perform the 
required services after considering the factors established pursuant to subsection 
(3)(b) of this Rule.  If fewer than three firms respond to the RFP or if no firms 
respond to the RFP, the Committee shall recommend such firm as it deems to be 
the most highly qualified.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Committee may 
recommend that any and all proposals be rejected. 

 
(7) Board Selection of Auditor. 

 
(a)  Where compensation was not selected as a factor used in evaluating the 

proposals, the Board shall negotiate with the firm ranked first and inquire 
of that firm as to the basis of compensation.  If the Board is unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory agreement with the first ranked firm at a price 
deemed by the Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, then 
negotiations with that firm shall be terminated and the Board shall 
immediately begin negotiations with the second ranked firm.  If a 
satisfactory agreement with the second ranked firm cannot be reached, 
those negotiations shall be terminated and negotiations with the third 
ranked firm shall be undertaken.  The Board may reopen formal 
negotiations with any one of the three top-ranked firms, but it may not 
negotiate with more than one firm at a time.  If the Board is unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory agreement with any of the selected firms, the 
Committee shall recommend additional firms in order of the firms’ 
respective competence and qualifications.  Negotiations shall continue, 
beginning with the first-named firm on the list, until an agreement is 
reached or the list of firms is exhausted. 

 
(b)  Where compensation was selected as a factor used in evaluating the 

proposals, the Board shall select the highest-ranked qualified firm or 
document in its public records the reason for not selecting the highest-
ranked qualified firm.   

 
(c)  In negotiations with firms under this Rule, the Board may allow the 

District Manager, District Counsel, or other designee to conduct 
negotiations on its behalf. 

 



 

34 
 

(d)  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may reject any or all proposals.  
The Board shall not consider any proposal, or enter into any contract for 
Auditing Services, unless the proposed agreed-upon compensation is 
reasonable to satisfy the requirements of Section 218.39 of the Florida 
Statutes, and the needs of the District. 

 
(8) Contract.  Any agreement reached under this Rule shall be evidenced by a written 

contract, which may take the form of an engagement letter signed and executed by 
both parties.  The written contract shall include all provisions and conditions of 
the procurement of such services and shall include, at a minimum, the following: 

 
(a)  A provision specifying the services to be provided and fees or other 

compensation for such services; 
 
(b)  A provision requiring that invoices for fees or other compensation be 

submitted in sufficient detail to demonstrate compliance with the terms of 
the contract; 

 
(c)  A provision setting forth deadlines for the auditor to submit a preliminary 

draft audit report to the District for review and to submit a final audit 
report no later than June 30 of the fiscal year that follows the fiscal year 
for which the audit is being conducted; 

 
(d)  A provision specifying the contract period, including renewals, and 

conditions under which the contract may be terminated or renewed.  The 
maximum contract period including renewals shall be five (5) years. A 
renewal may be done without the use of the auditor selection procedures 
provided in this Rule but must be in writing.   

 
(e)  Provisions required by law that require the auditor to comply with public 

records laws. 
 

(9) Notice of Award.  Once a negotiated agreement with a firm or individual is 
reached, or the Board authorizes the execution of an agreement with a firm where 
compensation was a factor in the evaluation of proposals, notice of the intent to 
award, including the rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in 
writing to all proposers by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or 
overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of 
the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or 
wording to that effect.  Protests regarding the award of contracts under this Rule 
shall be as provided for in Rule 3.11.  No proposer shall be entitled to recover any 
costs of proposal preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 218.33, 218.391, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

35 
 

 



 

36 
 

Rule 3.3 Purchase of Insurance. 
 

(1) Scope.  The purchases of life, health, accident, hospitalization, legal expense, or 
annuity insurance, or all of any kinds of such insurance for the officers and 
employees of the District, and for health, accident, hospitalization, and legal 
expenses upon a group insurance plan by the District, shall be governed by this 
Rule. This Rule does not apply to the purchase of any other type of insurance by 
the District, including but not limited to liability insurance, property insurance, 
and directors and officers insurance. Nothing in this Rule shall require the District 
to purchase insurance.   

 
 (2) Procedure.  For a purchase of insurance within the scope of these Rules, the 

following procedure shall be followed: 
 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Notice of Invitation to Bid. 
 
(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation within the District. The notice shall allow 
at least fourteen (14) days for submittal of bids. 

 
(c) The District may maintain a list of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitations to Bid.  The District shall make reasonable efforts to provide 
copies of any notices to such persons, but the failure to do so shall not give 
such consultants any bid protest or other rights or otherwise disqualify any 
otherwise valid procurement process.   

 
(d) Bids shall be opened at the time and place noted in the Invitation to Bid. 
 
(e) If only one (1) response to an Invitation is received, the District may 

proceed with the purchase.  If no response to an Invitation to Bid is 
received, the District may take whatever steps are reasonably necessary in 
order to proceed with the purchase. 

 
(f) The Board has the right to reject any and all bids and such reservations 

shall be included in all solicitations and advertisements. 
 
(g) Simultaneously with the review of the submitted bids, the District may 

undertake negotiations with those companies that have submitted 
reasonable and timely bids and, in the opinion of the District, are fully 
qualified and capable of meeting all services and requirements.  Bid 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the specifications and 
criteria contained in the Invitation to Bid; in addition, the total cost to the 
District, the cost, if any, to the District officers, employees, or their 
dependents, the geographic location of the company’s headquarters and 
offices in relation to the District, and the ability of the company to 
guarantee premium stability may be considered.  A contract to purchase 



 

37 
 

insurance shall be awarded to that company whose response to the 
Invitation to Bid best meets the overall needs of the District, its officers, 
employees, and/or dependents. 

 
(h) Notice of the intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, shall 

be provided in writing to all bidders by United States Mail, by hand 
delivery, or by overnight delivery service. The notice shall include the 
following statement:  "Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed 
in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 
proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  Protests of the 
District’s procurement of insurance under this Rule shall be in accordance 
with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  § 112.08, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

38 
 

Rule 3.4 Pre-qualification 
 
  (1) Scope.  In its discretion, the District may undertake a pre-qualification process in 

accordance with this Rule for vendors to provide construction services, goods, 
supplies, and materials, Contractual Services, and maintenance services.    

 
(2) Procedure.  When the District seeks to pre-qualify vendors, the following 

procedures shall apply: 
 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared a Request for Qualifications. 
 
(b) For construction services exceeding the thresholds described in Section 

255.20 of the Florida Statutes, the Board must advertise the proposed pre-
qualification criteria and procedures and allow at least seven (7) days 
notice of the public hearing for comments on such pre-qualification 
criteria and procedures.  At such public hearing, potential vendors may 
object to such pre-qualification criteria and procedures.  Following such 
public hearing, the Board shall formally adopt pre-qualification criteria 
and procedures prior to the advertisement of the Request for Qualifications 
for construction services. 

 
(c) The Request for Qualifications shall be advertised at least once in a 

newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of qualifications for goods, supplies and materials, 
Contractual Services, maintenance services, and construction services 
under two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000).  The notice shall 
allow at least twenty-one (21) days for submittal of qualifications for 
construction services estimated to cost over two hundred fifty thousand 
dollars ($250,000) and thirty (30) days for construction services estimated 
to cost over five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000).   

 
(d) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Requests for Qualifications.  The District shall make a good faith effort 
to provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any pre-qualification 
determination or contract awarded in accordance with these Rules and 
shall not be a basis for a protest of any pre-qualification determination or 
contract award. 

 
(e) If the District has pre-qualified vendors for a particular category of 

purchase, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been 
pre-qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies or 



 

39 
 

responses in response to the applicable Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

 
(f) In order to be eligible to submit qualifications, a firm or individual must, 

at the time of receipt of the qualifications: 
 

(i)  Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 
standing; 

 
(ii)  Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 

any; 
 
(iii)  Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 

authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; 
and 

 
(iv)  Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Request for Qualifications. 
 

Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the 
qualifications if required by the District.  Failure to submit evidence of 
compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
qualifications. 

 
(g) Qualifications shall be presented to the Board, or a committee appointed 

by the Board, for evaluation in accordance with the Request for 
Qualifications and this Rule.  Minor variations in the qualifications may be 
waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does 
not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature.   

 
(h) All vendors determined by the District to meet the pre-qualification 

requirements shall be pre-qualified.  To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the requirements contained in a Request for 
Qualifications, discussions may be conducted with qualified vendors.  
Vendors shall be accorded fair treatment prior to the submittal date with 
respect to any opportunity for discussion and revision of qualifications.  
For construction services, any contractor pre-qualified and considered 
eligible by the Department of Transportation to bid to perform the type of 
work the project entails shall be presumed to be qualified to perform the 
project. 

 
(i) The Board shall have the right to reject all qualifications if there are not 

enough to be competitive or if rejection is determined to be in the best 
interest of the District.  No vendor shall be entitled to recover any costs of 
qualification preparation or submittal from the District. 



 

40 
 

 
(j) Notice of intent to pre-qualify, including rejection of some or all 
qualifications, shall be provided in writing to all vendors by United States Mail, 
electronic mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service.  The 
notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file a protest within the 
time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver 
of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  Protests of the 
District’s pre-qualification decisions under this Rule shall be in accordance with 
the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11; provided however, protests related to the 
pre-qualification criteria and procedures for construction services shall be 
resolved in accordance with section (2)(b) of this Rule and Section 255.20(1)(b) 
of the Florida Statutes. 
 

(3) Suspension, Revocation, or Denial of Qualification 

(a) The District, for good cause, may deny, suspend, or revoke a prequalified 
vendor’s pre-qualified status. A suspension, revocation, or denial for good 
cause shall prohibit the vendor from bidding on any District construction 
contract for which qualification is required, shall constitute a determination of 
non-responsibility to bid on any other District construction or maintenance 
contract, and shall prohibit the vendor from acting as a material supplier or 
subcontractor on any District contract or project during the period of 
suspension, revocation, or denial. Good cause shall include the following: 

i. One of the circumstances specified under Section 337.16(2), Fla. Stat., 
has occurred. 

ii. Affiliated contractors submitted more than one proposal for the same 
work. In this event the pre-qualified status of all of the affiliated 
bidders will be revoked, suspended, or denied. All bids of affiliated 
bidders will be rejected. 

iii. The vendor made or submitted false, deceptive, or fraudulent 
statements, certifications, or materials in any claim for payment or any 
information required by any District contract. 

iv. The vendor or its affiliate defaulted on any contract or a contract 
surety assumed control of financial responsibility for any contract of 
the vendor. 

v. The vendor’s qualification to bid is suspended, revoked, or denied by 
any other public or semi-public entity, or the vendor has been the 
subject of a civil enforcement proceeding or settlement involving a 
public or semi-public entity. 

vi. The vendor failed to comply with contract or warranty requirements or 
failed to follow District direction in the performance of a contract. 



 

41 
 

vii. The vendor failed to timely furnish all contract documents required by 
the contract specifications, special provisions, or by any state or 
federal statutes or regulations. If the vendor fails to furnish any of the 
subject contract documents by the expiration of the period of 
suspension, revocation, or denial set forth above, the vendor’s pre-
qualified status shall remain suspended, revoked, or denied until the 
documents are furnished. 

viii. The vendor failed to notify the District within 10 days of the vendor, 
or any of its affiliates, being declared in default or otherwise not 
completing work on a contract or being suspended from qualification 
to bid or denied qualification to bid by any other public or semi-public 
agency. 

ix. The vendor did not pay its subcontractors or suppliers in a timely 
manner or in compliance with contract documents. 

x. The vendor has demonstrated instances of poor or unsatisfactory 
performance, deficient management resulting in project delay, poor 
quality workmanship, a history of payment of liquidated damages, 
untimely completion of projects, uncooperative attitude, contract 
litigation, inflated claims or defaults. 

xi. An affiliate of the vendor has previously been determined by the 
District to be non-responsible, and the specified period of suspension, 
revocation, denial, or non-responsibility remains in effect. 

xii. The vendor or affiliate(s) has been convicted of a contract crime. 

1. The term “contract crime” means any violation of state or 
federal antitrust laws with respect to a public contract or any 
violation of any state or federal law involving fraud, bribery, 
collusion, conspiracy, or material misrepresentation with 
respect to a public contract. 

2. The term “convicted” or “conviction” means a finding of guilt 
or a conviction of a contract crime, with or without an 
adjudication of guilt, in any federal or state trial court of record 
as a result of a jury verdict, nonjury trial, or entry of a plea of 
guilty or nolo contendere. 

(b) A denial, suspension, or revocation shall prohibit the vendor from being a 
subcontractor on District work during the period of denial, suspension, or 
revocation, except when a prime contractor’s bid has used prices of a 
subcontractor who becomes disqualified after the bid, but before the request 
for authorization to sublet is presented. 



 

42 
 

(c) The District shall inform the vendor in writing of its intent to deny, suspend, 
or revoke its pre-qualified status and inform the vendor of its right to a 
hearing, the procedure which must be followed, and the applicable time limits. 
If a hearing is requested within 10 days after the receipt of the notice of intent, 
the hearing shall be held within 30 days after receipt by the District of the 
request for the hearing. The decision shall be issued within 15 days after the 
hearing.  

(d) Such suspension or revocation shall not affect the vendor’s obligations under 
any preexisting contract. 

(e) In the case of contract crimes, the vendor’s pre-qualified status under this 
Rule shall be revoked indefinitely. For all violations of Rule 3.4(3)(a) other 
than for the vendor’s conviction for contract crimes, the revocation, denial, or 
suspension of a vendor’s pre-qualified status under this Rule shall be for a 
specific period of time based on the seriousness of the deficiency. 

Examples of factors affecting the seriousness of a deficiency are: 

i. Impacts on project schedule, cost, or quality of work; 

ii. Unsafe conditions allowed to exist; 

iii. Complaints from the public; 

iv. Delay or interference with the bidding process; 

v. The potential for repetition; 

vi. Integrity of the public contracting process; 

vii. Effect on the health, safety, and welfare of the public. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.033, 255.0525, 255.20, Fla. Stat. 



 

43 
 

Rule 3.5 Construction Contracts, Not Design-Build. 
 

(1)  Scope.  All contracts for the construction or improvement of any building, 
structure, or other public construction works authorized by Chapter 190 of the 
Florida Statutes, the costs of which are estimated by the District in accordance 
with generally accepted cost accounting principles to be in excess of the threshold 
amount for applicability of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as that amount 
may be indexed or amended from time to time, shall be let under the terms of 
these Rules and the procedures of Section 255.20 of the Florida Statutes, as the 
same may be amended from time to time.  A project shall not be divided solely to 
avoid the threshold bidding requirements. 

 
(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of construction services is within the scope of this 

Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 
 

 (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

 
 (b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation in the District and in the county in which 
the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount of the bid 
bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least twenty-one (21) 
days for submittal of sealed bids, proposals, replies, or responses, unless 
the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter period of time is 
appropriate. Any project projected to cost more than five hundred 
thousand dollars ($500,000) must be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior 
to the date for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses.  If the 
Board has previously pre-qualified contractors pursuant to Rule 3.4 and 
determined that only the contractors that have been pre-qualified will be 
permitted to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses, the Notice of 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation need not be published.  Instead, the Notice of 
Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation shall be sent to the pre-qualified contractors by 
United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service. 

 
 (c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award.   



 

44 
 

 
(d) If the District has pre-qualified providers of construction services, then, at 

the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 
will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses to 
Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations. 

 
(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 

or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses: 

 
(i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 
 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if 
any; 

 
(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be 

authorized to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with 
Chapter 607 of the Florida Statutes, if the bidder is a corporation; 
and 

 
     (iv)  Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation. 

 
Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any violation of 
federal labor or employment tax laws regarding subjects including but not 
limited to, reemployment assistance, safety, tax withholding, worker’s 
compensation, unemployment tax, social security and Medicare tax, wage 
or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the past 5 years may be considered 
ineligible by the District to submit a bid, response, or proposal for a 
District project. 

 
Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply, or response, if required by the District.  Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

 
(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses, or the portions of which that 

include the price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in 
accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district representative 
is present.  The name of each bidder and the price submitted in the bid 
shall be announced at such meeting and shall be made available upon 
request. Minutes should be taken at the meeting and maintained by the 
District. Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be evaluated in 



 

45 
 

accordance with the respective Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 
Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation and these Rules.  
Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, or responses may be 
waived by the Board.  A variation is minor if waiver of the variation does 
not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of a material nature.  
Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be corrected by the Board.  
Bids and proposals may not be modified or supplemented after opening; 
provided however, additional information may be requested and/or 
provided to evidence compliance, make non-material modifications, 
clarifications, or supplementations, and as otherwise permitted by Florida 
law. 

 
(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted by a Responsive and Responsible 

Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid shall be accepted.  In relation to 
a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or 
Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is 
most advantageous to the District. To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 
may be conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses.   

 
 (h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No contractor shall be 
entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, response, or reply 
preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
 (i) The Board may require potential contractors to furnish bid bonds, 

performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board. 

 
(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 

proposals, replies, or responses, shall be provided in writing to all 
contractors by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight 
delivery service. The notice shall include the following statement:  
"Failure to file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 
Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those 
Rules," or wording to that effect.  Protests of the District’s purchase of 
construction services under this Rule shall be in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

 



 

46 
 

(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses 
are received, the District may purchase construction services or may reject 
the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of competitiveness. If 
no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is received, the District 
may proceed with the procurement of construction services, in the manner 
the Board determines is in the best interests of the District, which may 
include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the construction services 
without further competitive selection processes.  
 

 (3) Sole Source; Government.  Construction services that are only available from a 
single source are exempt from this Rule.  Construction services provided by 
governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule.  This Rule shall not apply to 
the purchase of construction services, which may include goods, supplies, or 
materials, that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government contract 
that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local government 
in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of these Rules.  
A contract for construction services is exempt from this Rule if state or federal 
law prescribes with whom the District must contract or if the rate of payment is 
established during the appropriation process.    

 
(4) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 

into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

 
(5)  Emergency Purchases. The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board Meeting.   

 
 (6) Exceptions.  This Rule is inapplicable when: 
 

(a)  The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 
facility; 

 
(b)  The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 

time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 
available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent; 

 
(c)  The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 

abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contract; or 
 
(d)  The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 

286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 
that it is in the public’s best interest to perform the project using its own 
services, employees, and equipment. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 



 

47 
 

Rule 3.6 Construction Contracts, Design-Build. 
 
 (1) Scope.  The District may utilize Design-Build Contracts for any public 

construction project for which the Board determines that use of such contract is in 
the best interest of the District. When letting a Design-Build Contract, the District 
shall use the following procedure: 

 
(2) Procedure. 

 
(a)    The District shall utilize a Design Criteria Professional meeting the 

requirements of Section 287.055(2)(k) of the Florida Statutes, when 
developing a Design Criteria Package, evaluating the proposals and 
qualifications submitted by Design-Build Firms, and determining 
compliance of the project construction with the Design Criteria Package.  
The Design Criteria Professional may be an employee of the District, may 
be the District Engineer selected by the District pursuant to Section 
287.055 of the Florida Statutes, or may be retained pursuant to Rule 3.1.  
The Design Criteria Professional is not eligible to render services under a 
Design-Build Contract executed pursuant to the Design Criteria Package. 

 
  (b) A Design Criteria Package for the construction project shall be prepared 

and sealed by the Design Criteria Professional.  If the project utilizes 
existing plans, the Design Criteria Professional shall create a Design 
Criteria Package by supplementing the plans with project specific 
requirements, if any.     

 
  (c)  The Board may either choose to award the Design-Build Contract pursuant 

to the competitive proposal selection process set forth in Section 
287.055(9) of the Florida Statutes, or pursuant to the qualifications-based 
selection process pursuant to Rule 3.1.  

 
   (i) Qualifications-Based Selection.  If the process set forth in Rule 3.1 

is utilized, subsequent to competitive negotiations, a guaranteed 
maximum price and guaranteed completion date shall be 
established.  

 
(ii)   Competitive Proposal-Based Selection. If the competitive proposal 

selection process is utilized, the Board, in consultation with the 
Design Criteria Professional, shall establish the criteria, standards 
and procedures for the evaluation of Design-Build Proposals based 
on price, technical, and design aspects of the project, weighted for 
the project.  After a Design Criteria Package and the standards and 
procedures for evaluation of proposals have been developed, 
competitive proposals from qualified firms shall be solicited 
pursuant to the design criteria by the following procedure: 

 



 

48 
 

    1. A Request for Proposals shall be advertised at least once in 
a newspaper of general circulation in the county in which 
the District is located.  The notice shall allow at least 
twenty-one (21) days for submittal of sealed proposals, 
unless the Board, for good cause, determines a shorter 
period of time is appropriate.  Any project projected to cost 
more than five hundred thousand dollars ($500,000) must 
be noticed at least thirty (30) days prior to the date for 
submittal of proposals.   

   
    2. The District may maintain lists of persons interested in 

receiving notices of Requests for Proposals.  The District 
shall make a good faith effort to provide written notice, by 
electronic mail, United States Mail, hand delivery, or 
facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, 
failure of a person to receive the notice shall not invalidate 
any contract awarded in accordance with this Rule and 
shall not be a basis for a protest of any contract award. 

 
    3. In order to be eligible to submit a proposal, a firm must, at 

the time of receipt of the proposals: 
    
     a. Hold the required applicable state professional 

licenses in good standing, as defined by Section 
287.055(2)(h) of the Florida Statutes; 

 
     b.  Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good 

standing, if any; 
 
     c. Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter 

or be authorized to do business in the State of 
Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 of the 
Florida Statutes, if the proposer is a corporation; 

 
     d. Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set 

forth in the Request for Proposals and Design 
Criteria Package. 

 
Any contractor that has been found guilty by a court of any 
violation of federal labor or employment tax laws regarding 
subjects including but not limited to reemployment 
assistance, safety, tax withholding, worker’s compensation, 
unemployment tax, social security and Medicare tax, wage 
or hour, or prevailing rate laws within the past 5 years may 



 

49 
 

be considered ineligible by the District to submit a bid, 
response, or proposal for a District project. 

 
Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be 
submitted with the proposal if required by the District.  
Failure to submit evidence of compliance when required 
may be grounds for rejection of the proposal. 

 
    4.  The proposals, or the portions of which that include the 

price, shall be publicly opened at a meeting noticed in 
accordance with Rule 1.3, and at which at least one district 
representative is present.  The name of each bidder and the 
price submitted in the bid shall be announced at such 
meeting and shall be made available upon request.  Minutes 
should be taken at the meeting and maintained by the 
District.  In consultation with the Design Criteria 
Professional, the Board shall evaluate the proposals 
received based on evaluation criteria and procedures 
established prior to the solicitation of proposals, including 
but not limited to qualifications, availability, and past work 
of the firms and the partners and members thereof.  The 
Board shall then select no fewer than three (3) Design-
Build Firms as the most qualified. 

 
    5. The Board shall have the right to reject all proposals if the 

proposals are too high, or rejection is determined to be in 
the best interest of the District. No vendor shall be entitled 
to recover any costs of proposal preparation or submittal 
from the District. 

 
    6. If less than three (3) Responsive Proposals are received, the 

District may purchase design-build services or may reject 
the proposals for lack of competitiveness. If no Responsive 
Proposals are received, the District may proceed with the 
procurement of design-build services in the manner the 
Board determines is in the best interests of the District, 
which may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of 
the design-build services without further competitive 
selection processes. 

 
    7. Notice of the rankings adopted by the Board, including the 

rejection of some or all proposals, shall be provided in 
writing to all consultants by United States Mail, hand 
delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery service.  The 
notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to 
file a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the 



 

50 
 

Rules of the District shall constitute a waiver of 
proceedings under those Rules," or wording to that effect.  
Protests of the District’s rankings under this Rule shall be 
in accordance with the procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

 
    8. The Board shall negotiate a contract with the firm ranking 

the highest based on the evaluation standards and shall 
establish a price which the Board determines is fair, 
competitive and reasonable.  Should the Board be unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to 
be the most qualified at a price considered by the Board to 
be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations with that 
firm must be terminated. The Board shall then undertake 
negotiations with the second most qualified firm, based on 
the ranking by the evaluation standards.  Should the Board 
be unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm 
considered to be the second most qualified at a price 
considered by the Board to be fair, competitive, and 
reasonable, negotiations with that firm must be terminated. 
The Board shall then undertake negotiations with the third 
most qualified firm. Should the Board be unable to 
negotiate a satisfactory contract with the firm considered to 
be the third most qualified at a price considered by the 
Board to be fair, competitive, and reasonable, negotiations 
with that firm must be terminated.   Should the Board be 
unable to negotiate a satisfactory contract with any of the 
selected firms, the Board shall select additional firms in 
order of their rankings based on the evaluation standards 
and continue negotiations until an agreement is reached or 
the list of firms is exhausted. 

 
    9.  After the Board contracts with a firm, the firm shall bring 

to the Board for approval, detailed working drawings of the 
project.   

 
    10.  The Design Criteria Professional shall evaluate the 

compliance of the detailed working drawings and project 
construction with the Design Criteria Package and shall 
provide the Board with a report of the same.   

 
(3) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 

into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 
 

(4) Emergency Purchase.  The Board may, in case of public emergency, declare an 
emergency and immediately proceed with negotiations with the best qualified 



 

51 
 

Design-Build Firm available at the time.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase 
has occurred shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
 (5) Exceptions.  This Rule is inapplicable when: 
 

(a)  The project is undertaken as repair or maintenance of an existing public 
facility; 

 
(b)  The funding source of the project will be diminished or lost because the 

time required to competitively award the project after the funds become 
available exceeds the time within which the funding source must be spent; 

 
(c)  The District has competitively awarded a project and the contractor has 

abandoned the project or the District has terminated the contractor; or 
 
(d)  The District, after public notice, conducts a public meeting under Section 

286.011 of the Florida Statutes, and finds by a majority vote of the Board 
that it is in the public’s best interest to perform the project using its own 
services, employees, and equipment. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 189.053, 190.033, 255.0518, 255.0525, 255.20, 287.055, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

52 
 

Rule 3.7  Payment and Performance Bonds. 
 

(1)  Scope.  This Rule shall apply to contracts for the construction of a public 
building, for the prosecution and completion of a public work, or for repairs upon 
a public building or public work and shall be construed in addition to terms 
prescribed by any other Rule that may also apply to such contracts. 

 
(2)  Required Bond.  Upon entering into a contract for any of the services described in 

section (1) of this Rule in excess of $200,000, the Board should require that the 
contractor, before commencing the work, execute and record a payment and 
performance bond in an amount equal to the contract price.  Notwithstanding the 
terms of the contract or any other law, the District may not make payment to the 
contractor until the contractor has provided to the District a certified copy of the 
recorded bond. 

 
(3)  Discretionary Bond.  At the discretion of the Board, upon entering into a contract 

for any of the services described in section (1) of this Rule for an amount not 
exceeding $200,000, the contractor may be exempted from executing a payment 
and performance bond. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  § 255.05, Fla. Stat. 

 



 

53 
 

Rule 3.8 Goods, Supplies, and Materials. 
 
  (1) Purpose and Scope.  All purchases of goods, supplies, or materials exceeding the 

amount provided in Section 287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY 
FOUR, shall be purchased under the terms of this Rule.  Contracts for purchases 
of “goods, supplies, and materials” do not include printing, insurance, advertising, 
or legal notices.  A contract involving goods, supplies, or materials plus 
maintenance services may, in the discretion of the Board, be treated as a contract 
for maintenance services.  However, a purchase shall not be divided solely in 
order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements. 

 
(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of goods, supplies, or materials is within the scope 

of this Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 
 

(a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

 
(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount 
of the bid bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses. 

 
(c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award. 

 
(d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of goods, supplies, and materials, 

then, at the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-
qualified will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, or responses. 

 
(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 

or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses: 

 
(i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 
 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any; 



 

54 
 

 
(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 

to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 
of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and 

 
     (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation. 

 
Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply or response if required by the District.  Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response. 
 
Any firm or individual whose principal place of business is outside the 
State of Florida must also submit a written opinion of an attorney at law 
licensed to practice law in that foreign state, as to the preferences, if any or 
none, granted by the law of that foreign state to business entities whose 
principal places of business are in that foreign state, in the letting of any or 
all public contracts.  Failure to submit such a written opinion or 
submission of a false or misleading written opinion may be grounds for 
rejection of the bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

 
(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 

and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 
to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. Bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation 
to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, and this Rule.  Minor variations in the bids, proposals, replies, 
or responses may be waived by the Board. A variation is minor if waiver 
of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or disadvantage of 
a material nature. Mistakes in arithmetic extension of pricing may be 
corrected by the Board.  Bids and proposals may not be modified or 
supplemented after opening; provided however, additional information 
may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, make non-
material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and as 
otherwise permitted by Florida law. 

 
(g) The lowest Responsive Bid, after taking into account the preferences 

provided for in this subsection, submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder in response to an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be 
accepted.  If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a 
foreign state which does not grant a preference in competitive purchase to 
businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the 



 

55 
 

lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of 
business is in the State of Florida shall be awarded a preference of five (5) 
percent.  If the lowest Responsive Bid is submitted by a Responsive and 
Responsible Bidder whose principal place of business is located in a 
foreign state which grants a preference in competitive purchase to 
businesses whose principal place of business are in that foreign state, the 
lowest Responsible and Responsive Bidder whose principal place of 
business is in the State of Florida shall be awarded a preference equal to 
the preference granted by such foreign state. 

 
 To assure full understanding of the responsiveness to the solicitation 

requirements contained in an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, 
Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions may be 
conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses.   

 
(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No vendor shall be 
entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response 
preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
 (i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 

performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board. 

 
(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 

proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors 
by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 
service.  The notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file 
a protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the 
District shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or 
wording to that effect.  Protests of the District’s purchase of goods, 
supplies, and materials under this Rule shall be in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in Rule 3.11. 

 
(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses 

are received, the District may purchase goods, supplies, or materials, or 
may reject the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of 
competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is 
received, the District may proceed with the procurement of goods, 
supplies, and materials, in the manner the Board determines is in the best 
interests of the District, which may include but is not limited to a direct 



 

56 
 

purchase of the goods, supplies, and materials without further competitive 
selection processes.  

 
 (3) Goods, Supplies, and Materials included in a Construction Contract Awarded 

Pursuant to Rule 3.5 or 3.6.  There may be occasions where the District has 
undergone the competitive purchase of construction services which contract may 
include the provision of goods, supplies, or materials.  In that instance, the 
District may approve a change order to the contract and directly purchase the 
goods, supplies, and materials.  Such purchase of goods, supplies, and materials 
deducted from a competitively purchased construction contract shall be exempt 
from this Rule. 

  
 (4) Exemption.  Goods, supplies, and materials that are only available from a single 

source are exempt from this Rule.  Goods, supplies, and materials provided by 
governmental agencies are exempt from this Rule.  A contract for goods, supplies, 
or materials is exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom 
the District must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the 
appropriation process.  This Rule shall not apply to the purchase of goods, 
supplies or materials that are purchased under a federal, state, or local government 
contract that has been competitively procured by such federal, state, or local 
government in a manner consistent with the material procurement requirements of 
these Rules. 

 
 (5) Renewal.  Contracts for the purchase of goods, supplies, and/or materials subject 

to this Rule may be renewed for a maximum period of five (5) years.   
 
 (6) Emergency Purchases.  The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 189.053, 190.033, 287.017, 287.084, Fla. Stat. 



 

57 
 

Rule 3.9 Maintenance Services. 
 

(1)      Scope.  All contracts for maintenance of any District facility or project shall be set 
under the terms of this Rule if the cost exceeds the amount provided in Section 
287.017 of the Florida Statutes, for CATEGORY FOUR.  A contract involving 
goods, supplies, and materials plus maintenance services may, in the discretion of 
the Board, be treated as a contract for maintenance services.  However, a purchase 
shall not be divided solely in order to avoid the threshold bidding requirements. 

 
(2) Procedure.  When a purchase of maintenance services is within the scope of this 

Rule, the following procedures shall apply: 
 

 (a) The Board shall cause to be prepared an Invitation to Bid, Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation. 

 
(b) Notice of the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to 

Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation shall be advertised at least once in a 
newspaper of general circulation within the District and within the county 
in which the District is located.  The notice shall also include the amount 
of the bid bond, if one is required.  The notice shall allow at least seven (7) 
days for submittal of bids, proposals, replies, or responses. 

 
 (c) The District may maintain lists of persons interested in receiving notices 

of Invitations to Bid, Requests for Proposals, Invitations to Negotiate, and 
Competitive Solicitations.  The District shall make a good faith effort to 
provide written notice, by electronic mail, United States Mail, hand 
delivery, or facsimile, to persons who provide their name and address to 
the District Manager for inclusion on the list.  However, failure of a 
person to receive the notice shall not invalidate any contract awarded in 
accordance with this Rule and shall not be a basis for a protest of any 
contract award. 

 
(d) If the District has pre-qualified suppliers of maintenance services, then, at 

the option of the District, only those persons who have been pre-qualified 
will be eligible to submit bids, proposals, replies, and responses. 

 
(e) In order to be eligible to submit a bid, proposal, reply, or response, a firm 

or individual must, at the time of receipt of the bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses: 

 
(i) Hold all required applicable state professional licenses in good 

standing; 
 

(ii) Hold all required applicable federal licenses in good standing, if any; 
 



 

58 
 

(iii) Hold a current and active Florida corporate charter or be authorized 
to do business in the State of Florida in accordance with Chapter 607 
of the Florida Statutes, if the vendor is a corporation; and 

 
     (iv) Meet any special pre-qualification requirements set forth in the 

Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or 
Competitive Solicitation. 

 
Evidence of compliance with these Rules must be submitted with the bid, 
proposal, reply, or response if required by the District.  Failure to submit 
evidence of compliance when required may be grounds for rejection of the 
bid, proposal, reply, or response. 

 
(f) Bids, proposals, replies, and responses shall be publicly opened at the time 

and place noted on the Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation 
to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation.  Bids, proposals, replies, and 
responses shall be evaluated in accordance with the respective Invitation 
to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive 
Solicitation, and these Rules. Minor variations in the bids, proposals, 
replies, and responses may be waived by the Board.  A variation is minor 
if waiver of the variation does not create a competitive advantage or 
disadvantage of a material nature.  Mistakes in arithmetic extension of 
pricing may be corrected by the Board.  Bids and proposals may not be 
modified or supplemented after opening; provided however, additional 
information may be requested and/or provided to evidence compliance, 
make non-material modifications, clarifications, or supplementations, and 
as otherwise permitted by Florida law. 

 
(g) The lowest Responsive Bid submitted in response to an Invitation to Bid 

by a Responsive and Responsible Bidder shall be accepted.  In relation to 
a Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate or Competitive 
Solicitation the Board shall select the Responsive Proposal, Reply, or 
Response submitted by a Responsive and Responsible Vendor which is 
most advantageous to the District.  To assure full understanding of the 
responsiveness to the solicitation requirements contained in a Request for 
Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, or Competitive Solicitation, discussions 
may be conducted with qualified vendors.  Vendors shall be accorded fair 
treatment prior to the submittal date with respect to any opportunity for 
discussion, preparation, and revision of bids, proposals, replies, or 
responses.   

 
(h) The Board shall have the right to reject all bids, proposals, replies, or 

responses because they exceed the amount of funds budgeted for the 
purchase, if there are not enough to be competitive, or if rejection is 
determined to be in the best interest of the District.  No Vendor shall be 



 

59 
 

entitled to recover any costs of bid, proposal, reply, or response 
preparation or submittal from the District. 

 
(i) The Board may require bidders and proposers to furnish bid bonds, 

performance bonds, and/or other bonds with a responsible surety to be 
approved by the Board. 

 
(j) Notice of intent to award, including rejection of some or all bids, 

proposals, replies, or responses shall be provided in writing to all vendors 
by United States Mail, hand delivery, facsimile, or overnight delivery 
service. The notice shall include the following statement:  "Failure to file a 
protest within the time prescribed in Rule 3.11 of the Rules of the District 
shall constitute a waiver of proceedings under those Rules," or wording to 
that effect.  Protests of the District’s procurement of maintenance services 
under this Rule shall be in accordance with the procedures set forth in 
Rule 3.11. 

 
(k) If less than three (3) Responsive Bids, Proposals, Replies, or Responses 

are received, the District may purchase the maintenance services or may 
reject the bids, proposals, replies, or responses for a lack of 
competitiveness. If no Responsive Bid, Proposal, Reply, or Response is 
received, the District may proceed with the procurement of maintenance 
services, in the manner the Board determines is in the best interests of the 
District, which may include but is not limited to a direct purchase of the 
maintenance services without further competitive selection processes.  

 
 (3) Exemptions.  Maintenance services that are only available from a single source 

are exempt from this Rule.  Maintenance services provided by governmental 
agencies are exempt from this Rule.  A contract for maintenance services is 
exempt from this Rule if state or federal law prescribes with whom the District 
must contract or if the rate of payment is established during the appropriation 
process.    

 
 (4) Renewal.  Contracts for the purchase of maintenance services subject to this Rule 

may be renewed for a maximum period of five (5) years. 
 
(5) Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract entered 

into pursuant to this Rule shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

 
 (6) Emergency Purchases.  The District may make an Emergency Purchase without 

complying with these rules.  The fact that an Emergency Purchase has occurred or 
is necessary shall be noted in the minutes of the next Board meeting. 

 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.033, 287.017, Fla. Stat. 



 

60 
 

Rule 3.10 Contractual Services. 
 

(1)  Exemption from Competitive Purchase.  Pursuant to Section 190.033(3) of the 
Florida Statutes, Contractual Services shall not be subject to competitive 
purchasing requirements.  If an agreement is predominantly for Contractual 
Services, but also includes maintenance services or the purchase of goods and 
services, the contract shall not be subject to competitive purchasing requirements.  
Regardless of whether an advertisement or solicitation for Contractual Services is 
identified as an Invitation to Bid, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Negotiate, 
or Competitive Solicitation, no rights or remedies under these Rules, including 
but not limited to protest rights, are conferred on persons, firms, or vendors 
proposing to provide Contractual Services to the District.   

 
(2)  Contracts; Public Records.  In accordance with Florida law, each contract for 

Contractual Services shall include provisions required by law that require the 
contractor to comply with public records laws. 

 
Specific Authority: §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 119.0701, 190.011(3), 190.033, Fla. Stat. 



 

61 
 

Rule 3.11 Protests with Respect to Proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 
3.8, and 3.9. 

 
The resolution of any protests with respect to proceedings under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 
3.8, and 3.9 shall be in accordance with this Rule. 
 
 (1) Filing. 
 
  (a)  With respect to a protest regarding qualifications, specifications, 

documentation, or other requirements contained in a Request for 
Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 
Solicitation issued by the District, the notice of protest shall be filed in 
writing within seventy-two (72) calendar hours (excluding Saturdays, 
Sundays, and state holidays) after the first advertisement of the Request 
for Qualifications, Request for Proposals, Invitation to Bid, or Competitive 
Solicitation.  A formal protest setting forth with particularity the facts and 
law upon which the protest is based shall be filed within seven (7) 
calendar days (including Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after the 
initial notice of protest was filed. For purposes of this Rule, wherever 
applicable, filing will be perfected and deemed to have occurred upon 
receipt by the District. Failure to file a notice of protest shall constitute a 
waiver of all rights to protest the District’s intended decision.  Failure to 
file a formal written protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest 
proceedings and shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings. 

 
  (b) Except for those situations covered by subsection (1)(a) of this Rule, any 

firm or person who is affected adversely by a District’s ranking or 
intended award under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9 and 
desires to contest the District’s ranking or intended award, shall file with 
the District a written notice of protest within seventy-two (72) calendar 
hours (excluding Saturdays, Sundays, and state holidays) after receipt of 
the notice of the District’s ranking or intended award.  A formal protest 
setting forth with particularity the facts and law upon which the protest is 
based shall be filed within seven (7) calendar days (including Saturdays, 
Sundays, and state holidays) after the initial notice of protest was filed. 
For purposes of this Rule, wherever applicable, filing will be perfected 
and deemed to have occurred upon receipt by the District. Failure to file a 
notice of protest shall constitute a waiver of all rights to protest the 
District’s ranking or intended award.  Failure to file a formal written 
protest shall constitute an abandonment of the protest proceedings and 
shall automatically terminate the protest proceedings.   

 
  (c)  If the requirement for the posting of a protest bond and the amount of the 

protest bond, which may be expressed by a percentage of the contract to 
be awarded or a set amount, is disclosed in the District’s competitive 
solicitation documents for a particular purchase under Rules 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 



 

62 
 

3.4, 3.5, 3.6, 3.8, or 3.9, any person who files a notice of protest must post 
the protest bond. The amount of the protest bond shall be determined by 
District staff after consultation with the Board and within the limits, if any, 
imposed by Florida law.  In the event the protest is successful, the protest 
bond shall be refunded to the protestor.  In the event the protest is 
unsuccessful, the protest bond shall be applied towards the District’s costs, 
expenses, and attorney’s fees associated with hearing and defending the 
protest.  In the event the protest is settled by mutual agreement of the 
parties, the protest bond shall be distributed as agreed to by the District 
and protestor. 

 
  (d) The District does not accept documents filed by electronic mail or 

facsimile transmission.  Filings are only accepted during normal business 
hours. 

 
 (2) Contract Execution.  Upon receipt of a notice of protest which has been timely 

filed, the District shall not execute the contract under protest until the subject of 
the protest is resolved.  However, if the District sets forth in writing particular 
facts and circumstances showing that delay incident to protest proceedings will 
jeopardize the funding for the project, will materially increase the cost of the 
project, or will create an immediate and serious danger to the public health, 
safety, or welfare, the contract may be executed.   

 
 (3) Informal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest does not involve a 

disputed issue of material fact, the Board may, but is not obligated to, schedule an 
informal proceeding to consider the protest.  Such informal proceeding shall be at 
a time and place determined by the Board.  Notice of such proceeding shall be 
sent via facsimile, United States Mail, or hand delivery to the protestor and any 
substantially affected persons or parties not less than three (3) calendar days prior 
to such informal proceeding.  Within thirty (30) calendar days following the 
informal proceeding, the Board shall issue a written decision setting forth the 
factual, legal, and policy grounds for its decision. 

 
(4) Formal Proceeding. If the Board determines a protest involves disputed issues of 

material fact or if the Board elects not to use the informal proceeding process 
provided for in section (3) of this Rule, the District shall schedule a formal 
hearing to resolve the protest.  The Chairperson shall designate any member of the 
Board (including the Chairperson), District Manager, District Counsel, or other 
person as a hearing officer to conduct the hearing.  The hearing officer may: 

 
  (a) Administer oaths and affirmations; 
 
  (b) Rule upon offers of proof and receive relevant evidence; 
 
  (c) Regulate the course of the hearing, including any pre-hearing matters; 
 



 

63 
 

  (d) Enter orders; and 
 
  (e) Make or receive offers of settlement, stipulation, and adjustment. 
 

The hearing officer shall, within thirty (30) days after the hearing or receipt of the 
hearing transcript, whichever is later, file a recommended order which shall 
include a caption, time and place of hearing, appearances entered at the hearing, 
statement of the issues, findings of fact and conclusions of law, separately stated, 
and a recommendation for final District action.  The District shall allow each 
party fifteen (15) days in which to submit written exceptions to the recommended 
order.  The District shall issue a final order within sixty (60) days after the filing 
of the recommended order. 

 
 (5)  Intervenors. Other substantially affected persons may join the proceedings as 

intervenors on appropriate terms which shall not unduly delay the proceedings.  
 
 (6) Rejection of all Qualifications, Bids, Proposals, Replies and Responses after 

Receipt of Notice of Protest.  If the Board determines there was a violation of law, 
defect, or an irregularity in the competitive solicitation process, the Bids, 
Proposals, Replies, and Responses are too high, or if the Board determines it is 
otherwise in the District’s best interest, the Board may reject all qualifications, 
bids, proposals, replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation 
process anew.  If the Board decides to reject all qualifications, bids, proposals, 
replies, and responses and start the competitive solicitation process anew, any 
pending protests shall automatically terminate. 

 
 (7) Settlement.  Nothing herein shall preclude the settlement of any protest under this 

Rule at any time. 
 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  § 190.033, Fla. Stat. 
 



 

64 
 

Rule 4.0 Effective Date. 
 
 These Rules shall be effective May 14, 2020, except that no election of officers required 
by these Rules shall be required until after the next regular election for the Board. 
 
Specific Authority:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
Law Implemented:  §§ 190.011(5), 190.011(15), Fla. Stat. 
 



 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Resolution 2020-16 
 
 
 
 
 



RESOLUTION 2020-16 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF SUPERVISORS OF THE TOWNE 
PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT APPROVING 
PROPOSED BUDGETS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2020/2021 AND SETTING A 
PUBLIC HEARING THEREON PURSUANT TO FLORIDA LAW; 
ADDRESSING TRANSMITTAL, POSTING AND PUBLICATION 
REQUIREMENTS; ADDRESSING SEVERABILITY; AND PROVIDING 
AN EFFECTIVE DATE.  

 
 WHEREAS, the District Manager has heretofore prepared and submitted to the Board of 
Supervisors (“Board”) of the Towne Park Community Development District (“District”) prior to 
June 15, 2020, proposed budgets (“Proposed Budget”) for the fiscal year beginning October 1, 
2020 and ending September 30, 2021 (“Fiscal Year 2020/2021”); and  
 
 WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the District to fund the administrative and 
operations services (together, “Services”) set forth in the Proposed Budget by levy of special 
assessments pursuant to Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida Statutes (“Assessments”), as set forth 
in the preliminary assessment roll included within the Proposed Budget; and 
 
  WHEREAS, the District hereby determines that benefits would accrue to the properties 
within the District, as outlined within the Proposed Budget, in an amount equal to or in excess of 
the Assessments, and that such Assessments would be fairly and reasonably allocated as set forth 
in the Proposed Budget; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the Board has considered the Proposed Budget, including the Assessments, 
and desires to set the required public hearings thereon.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE BOARD OF 
SUPERVISORS OF THE TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT:  

 
1. PROPOSED BUDGET APPROVED.  The Proposed Budget prepared by the 

District Manager for Fiscal Year 2020/2021 attached hereto as Exhibit A is hereby approved as 
the basis for conducting a public hearing to adopt said Proposed Budget.  

2. DECLARING ASSESSMENTS.   Pursuant to Chapters 170, 190 and 197, Florida 
Statutes, the Assessments shall defray the cost of the Services in the total estimated amounts set 
forth in the Proposed Budget.  The nature of, and plans and specifications for, the Services to be 
funded by the Assessments are described in the Proposed Budget and in the reports of the District 
Engineer, all of which are on file and available for public inspection at the District Manager’s 
Office, located at 12051 Corporate Boulevard Orlando, FL 32817. The Assessments shall be levied 
within the District on all benefitted lots and lands, and shall be apportioned, all as described in the 
Proposed Budget and the preliminary assessment roll included therein. The preliminary assessment 
roll is also on file and available for public inspection at the District Manager’s Office.  The 
Assessments shall be paid in one more installments pursuant to a bill issued by the District in 



November of 2020, and pursuant to Chapter 170, Florida Statutes, or, alternatively, pursuant to 
the Uniform Method as set forth in Chapter 197, Florida Statutes.   

3. SETTING A PUBLIC HEARING.  A public hearing on said approved Proposed 
Budget is hereby declared and set for ________________, 2020 at _____ _.m.  The hearing may 
be conducted remotely, pursuant to Webex communications media technology and/or by telephone 
pursuant to Executive Orders 20-52, 20-69 and 20-112 issued by Governor DeSantis on March 9, 
2020, March 20, 2020 and April 29, 2020, as such orders may be extended or supplemented, 
respectively, and pursuant to Section 120.54(5)(b)2., Florida Statutes.  In the event that conditions 
allow the meeting to be held in person, it will be held at the following location:  
 
  LOCATION:   Offices of Highland Homes 
     3020 S. Florida Avenue, Suite 101 
     Lakeland, Florida 33803 
 

4. TRANSMITTAL OF PROPOSED BUDGET TO LOCAL GENERAL 
PURPOSE GOVERNMENTS.  The District Manager is hereby directed to submit a copy of the 
Proposed Budget to the City of Lakeland and Polk County at least 60 days prior to the hearing set 
above.  

 
5. POSTING OF PROPOSED BUDGET.  In accordance with Section 189.016, 

Florida Statutes, the District’s Secretary is further directed to post the approved Proposed Budget 
on the District’s website at least two days before the budget hearing date as set forth in Section 2, 
and shall remain on the website for at least 45 days.  

 
6. PUBLICATION OF NOTICE.  Notice of this public hearing shall be published 

in the manner prescribed in Florida law.  
 
7. SEVERABILITY.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 

provisions of this Resolution shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining portions 
of this Resolution, or any part thereof. 

 
8. EFFECTIVE DATE.  This Resolution shall take effect immediately upon 

adoption.  
 

PASSED AND ADOPTED this 14th day of May, 2020.  
 

ATTEST:      TOWNE PARK COMMUNITY  
DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
 
_____________________________          
Secretary/Assistant Secretary    Vice/Chairperson, Board of Supervisors 
 



Actual Through 
04/30/2020

Anticipated 
May - Sep.

Anticipated 
Total FY 2020

FY 2020 
Adopted 
Budget

FY 2021 
Proposed 

Budget

425,262.83$       5,687.17$          430,950.00$      430,950.00$      460,900.00$      
538.29                 -                     538.29                -                     -                     

425,801.12$       5,687.17$          431,488.29$      430,950.00$      460,900.00$      

3,800.00$            4,000.00$          7,800.00$          4,000.00$          9,600.00$          
2,415.00              -                     2,415.00             2,600.00            2,600.00            
8,808.58              -                     8,808.58             11,000.00          11,000.00          

14,583.31            10,416.69          25,000.00          25,000.00          35,000.00          
139.58                 99.70                 239.28                1,200.00            1,200.00            
470.00                 335.71               805.71                10,000.00          10,000.00          

5,500.00              -                     5,500.00             5,500.00            5,500.00            
22,414.44            16,010.31          38,424.75          20,000.00          20,000.00          
12,500.00            -                     12,500.00          12,500.00          20,000.00          

-                       500.00               500.00                500.00               625.00               
4,000.00              2,500.00            6,500.00             10,000.00          8,000.00            

36.61                   -                     36.61                  -                     -                     
-                       200.00               200.00                200.00               200.00               

297.44                 212.46               509.90                150.00               150.00               
50.40                   36.00                 86.40                  1,000.00            1,000.00            

2,545.52              1,818.23            4,363.75             3,000.00            3,000.00            
32.75                   17,546.75          17,579.50          15,000.00          15,000.00          

700.00                 1,700.00            2,400.00             2,400.00            2,700.00            
175.00                 -                     175.00                250.00               175.00               

-                       8,000.00            8,000.00             8,000.00            8,000.00            
8,008.00              5,720.00            13,728.00          25,000.00          25,000.00          
3,020.00              -                     3,020.00             3,250.00            3,250.00            

11,616.00            -                     11,616.00          20,000.00          20,000.00          
63,186.05            116,813.95        180,000.00        180,000.00        180,000.00        

-                       5,000.00            5,000.00             5,000.00            5,000.00            

164,298.68$       190,909.80$      355,208.48$      365,550.00$      387,000.00$      

-$                     1,000.00$          1,000.00$          1,000.00$          1,000.00$          
4,921.17              5,078.83            10,000.00          10,000.00          10,000.00          

987.02                 4,012.98            5,000.00             5,000.00            5,000.00            
10,050.00            7,178.57            17,228.57          12,000.00          12,000.00          

4,518.00              3,227.14            7,745.14             6,000.00            12,000.00          
1,925.00              2,695.00            4,620.00             500.00               3,300.00            

664.86                 474.90               1,139.76             1,000.00            1,000.00            
780.00                 1,720.00            2,500.00             2,500.00            2,500.00            

-                       2,400.00            2,400.00             2,400.00            2,400.00            

23,846.05$          27,787.42$        51,633.47$        40,400.00$        49,200.00$        

Facility Repair & Maintenance
Facility Management

Electric
Water
Pool Maintenance & Repairs
Janitorial Expenses
Pest Control
Internet/Phone

Property & Casualty Insurance
Landscaping Maintenance & Material
Hurricane Cleanup

Total General & Administrative Expenses

Pool & Clubhouse #1
Maintenance Staff

Miscellaneous, Contingency
Web Site Maintenance
Dues, Licenses, and Fees
Water
Pond Maintenance
General Liability Insurance

Audit
Travel and Per Diem
Telephone
Postage & Shipping
Copies
Legal Advertising

Field Management
Engineering
Dissemination Agent
District Counsel
Assessment Administration
Reamortization Schedules

Net Revenues

General & Administrative Expenses
Supervisor Fees
D&O Insurance
Trustee Services
Management

Towne Park CDD
FY 2021 Proposed O&M Budget

Year To Date

Revenues
Assessments
Other Income & Other Financing Sources

Page 1 of 2



Actual Through 
04/30/2020

Anticipated 
May - Sep.

Anticipated 
Total FY 2020

FY 2020 
Adopted 
Budget

FY 2021 
Proposed 

Budget

Towne Park CDD
FY 2021 Proposed O&M Budget

Year To Date

-$                     1,800.00$          1,800.00$          1,800.00$          1,800.00$          
-                       5,800.00            5,800.00             5,800.00            5,800.00            
-                       2,900.00            2,900.00             2,900.00            2,900.00            
-                       7,000.00            7,000.00             7,000.00            7,000.00            
-                       3,500.00            3,500.00             3,500.00            3,500.00            
-                       300.00               300.00                300.00               300.00               
-                       500.00               500.00                500.00               500.00               
-                       1,400.00            1,400.00             1,400.00            1,400.00            
-                       1,800.00            1,800.00             1,800.00            1,800.00            

-$                     25,000.00$        25,000.00$        25,000.00$        25,000.00$        

188,144.73$       243,697.23$      431,841.96$      430,950.00$      461,200.00$      

237,656.39$       (238,010.06)$     (353.67)$            -$                   (300.00)$            

147.36$               206.30$             353.66$              -$                   300.00$             

147.36$               206.30$             353.66$              -$                   300.00$             

237,803.75$       (237,803.75)$     -$                   -$                   -$                   Net Income (Loss)

Total Pool & Clubhouse Expenses

Total Expenses

Income (Loss) from Operations

Other Income (Expense)
Interest Income

Total Other Income (Expense)

Pool Maintenance & Repairs
Janitorial Expenses
Pest Control
Internet/Phone
Facility Repair & Maintenance
Facility Management

Pool & Clubhouse #2
Maintenance Staff
Electric
Water

Page 2 of 2



Towne Park CDD
Proposed FY 2021

Debt Service Budgets

Proposed Series 
2016 FY 2021 

Budget

Proposed Series 
2018 (Area 2B) FY 

2021 Budget

Proposed Series 
2018 (Area 3A) FY 

2021 Budget

Proposed Series 
2019 (Area 3B) FY 

2021 Budget

Proposed Series 
2019 (Area 3C) FY 

2021 Budget
REVENUES:

Special Assessments 173,625.00$            247,156.25$            797,778.14$            454,790.64$            435,196.89$            

TOTAL REVENUES 173,625.00$            247,156.25$            797,778.14$            454,790.64$            435,196.89$            

EXPENDITURES:

Interest 11/01/2020 41,625.00$              69,318.75$              223,459.38$            120,484.38$            115,609.38$            
Principal 11/01/2020 25,000.00                -                           -                           -                           -                           
Interest 05/01/2021 41,000.00                69,318.75                223,459.38              120,484.38              115,609.38              
Principal 05/01/2021 -                           40,000.00                130,000.00              95,000.00                90,000.00                

TOTAL EXPENDITURES 107,625.00$            178,637.50$            576,918.76$            335,968.76$            321,218.76$            

EXCESS REVENUES 66,000.00$              68,518.75$              220,859.38$            118,821.88$            113,978.13$            

Interest 11/01/2021 41,000.00$              68,518.75$              220,859.38$            118,821.88$            113,978.13$            
Principal 11/01/2021 25,000.00                -                           -                           -                           -                           

Page 1 of 1



Development Phase Planned Lots Acreage ERU per Lot
ERU per Lot for 

FY 20-21 O&M Total ERUs
Phase 2A Single-Family (Platted) (TP Estates Phase 2A) 148 1.00 1.000 148
Phase 2B Single-Family (Platted) (TP Estates Phase 2B) 130 1.00 1.000 130
Phase 3A Single-Family (Platted) (Riverstone Phase 1) 433 1.00 1.000 433
Phase 3B Single-Family (Platted) (Riverstone Phase 2) 277 1.00 1.000 277
Phase 3C Single-Family (Platted) (Riverstone Phases 3 and 4) 186 1.00 1.000 186
Riverstone Phases 5 & 6 126 0.05 0.050 6.277
Totals 1,174 0 1,180

4/2/20 - Emailed Rennie to confirm development phase above

Towne Park CDD
Proposed FY 2020 - 2021 CDD O&M Assessmen

*Amount paid if the property owner takes full advantage of the statutory 4.0% early payment discount.
**Values include a total 7.0% gross-up to account for the early payment discount and the fees charged by the county property appraiser and   



Net O&M Assmt. 
per Phase Net O&M per Lot

O&M Assmt. per Lot 
if Paid in November*

Gross O&M Assmt. per 
Lot**

FY20 Net 
O&M per 

Lot
Increase / 

(Decrease)
$57,794.23 $390.50 $402.58 $419.89 $593.43 -$202.93
$50,765.20 $390.50 $402.58 $419.89 $593.43 -$202.93

$169,087.17 $390.50 $402.58 $419.89 $593.43 -$202.93
$108,168.93 $390.50 $402.58 $419.89 $29.67 $360.83
$72,633.29 $390.50 $402.58 $419.89 $29.67 $360.83
$2,451.18 $19.53 $20.13 $20.99 $0.00 $0.00
$460,900

  
       nts

               
                      d/or tax collector.



Acreage Per 

65.06
82.91

129.76
88.03
93.7

125.54
585

585 Total Acreage



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Conveyance of Stormwater Ponds 
 

(provided under separate cover) 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Proposal(s) for Riverstone Ponds Maintenance 
 

(provided under separate cover) 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

District’s Amenity Policies 



TOWNE PARK 
COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 

DISTRICT 

AMENITY POLICIES & RATES 

ADOPTED APRIL 12,2018 



DEFINITIONS 

"Amenities" or "Amenity Facilities"- shall mean the propetiies and areas owned by the District 
and intended for recreational use and shall include, but not specifically be limited to, the Clubhouse, fitness 
center, swimming pool, and basketball comis, together with their appmtenant facilities and areas. 

"Amenity Policies" or "Policies" shall mean these Amenity Policies and Rates of the Towne Park 
Community Development District, as amended from time to time. The Board of Supervisors reserves the 
right to amend or modify these Policies when and as necessary and will notify Patrons of any changes by 
posting the revised Policies on the District's website. The Board of Supervisors and District Staff shall have 
full authority to enforce the Amenity Policies. 

"Amenity Manager"- shall mean the District Manager or that person or firm so designated by the 
District's Board of Supervisors, including their employees. 

"Annual User Fee" shall mean the fee established by the District for any person that is not a 
Resident and wishes to become a Non-Resident Patron. The amount of the Annual User Fee is set forth 
herein, and that amount is subject to change based on Board action. 

"Board of Supervisors" or "Board" -shall mean the Towne Park Community Development 
District's Board of Supervisors. 

"Clubhouse" -shall mean the amenity building commonly referred to as the _____ _ 
Clubhouse, located at 3883 White Ibis Road #REC, Lakeland FL 33811. 

"District" shall mean the Towne Park Community Development District. 

"District Staff'' - shall mean the professional management company with which the District has 
contracted to provide management services to the District, the Amenity Manager, and District Counsel. 

"Household" shall mean those individuals residing within the immediate household of a Patron. 
This can consist of individuals who have not yet attained the age of eighteen or individuals over the age of 
eighteen (18) actually residing in the household. This does not include visiting relatives, or extended family 
not residing in the home. Proof of residency for individuals over the age of eighteen ( 18) years is required 
by driver's license or state or federal issued form of identification. A signed affidavit of residency shall be 
required for individuals under the age of eighteen (18) years. 

"Guest" -shall mean any person or persons, other than a Patron, who are expressly authorized by 
the District to use the Amenities, or invited for a specific visit by a Patron over the age of eighteen (18) years 
to use the Amenities. 

"Access Card"- shall mean an electronic Access Card issued by the District Manager to each 
Patron (as defined herein) to access the Amenity Facilities. 

"Non-Resident"- shall mean any person who does not own propetty within the District. 

"Non-Resident Patron"- shall mean any person or Household not owning propetiy in the District 
· who is paying the Annual User Fee to the District for use of all Amenity Facilities. 



"Patron" or "Patrons" shall mean Residents, Guests, Non-Resident Patrons, and Renters who are 
eighteen (18) years of age and older. 

"Renter" - shall mean an individual maintaining his or her residence in a home located within the 
District pursuant to a valid rental or lease agreement. Proof of valid rental or lease agreement shall be 
required. 

"Resident" - shall mean any person or Household owning property within the District. 

AMENITIES ACCESS AND USAGE 

Only Patrons and Guests have the right to use the Amenities; provided, however, that ce1tain 
community programming events may be available to the general public where permitted by the District, 
and subject to payment of any applicable fees and satisfaction of any other applicable requirements, 
including adherence to these Amenity Policies. All persons using the Amenities do so at their own risk 
and agree to abide by the Amenity Policies. The District shall assume no responsibility and shall not be 
liable in any accidents, personal injury or death, or damage to, or loss of property arising from the use of 
the Amenities or from the acts, omissions, or negligence of other persons using the Amenities. 

Resident Access and Usage. Residents must pay Operations & Maintenance Assessments applicable to 
property owners within the District in accordance with the District's annual assessment resolution. 
Payment of Operations & Maintenance Assessments covers the Annual User Fee for such Resident and 
entitles the Resident to use of the Amenities for the corresponding fiscal year of the District, which year 
begins October 1 and ends September 30. Residents must complete the Amenity Access Registration Form 
prior to access or use of the Amenities. 

Non-Resident Access and Usage. A Non-Resident Patron must pay the Annual User Fee applicable to 
Non-Residents in order to have the right to use the Amenities for one full year, which year begins from the 
date of receipt of payment by the District. This fee must be paid in full before the Non-Resident may use 
the Amenities. Each subsequent Annual User Fee shall be paid in full on the anniversary date of 
application. Annual User Fees may be renewed no more than thirty (30) days in advance of the date of 
expiration and for no more than one calendar year. Multi-year memberships are not available. The 
Annual User Fee is nonrefundable and nontransferable. Non-Resident Patrons must complete the Amenity 
Facilities Access Registration Form prior to access or use of the Amenities. 

Guest Access and Usage. Each Patron Household and Non-Resident Patron Household is entitled to bring 
four (4) persons as Guests to the Amenities at one time (unless Patron Household or Non-Resident Patron 
Household has reserved the Clubhouse). District Staff shall be authorized to verify and enforce the 
authorized number of Guests. A Patron over the age of eighteen (18) years must accompany Guests at all 
times during Guests use of the Amenities and are responsible for any and all actions taken by such Guests. 
Violation of these Amenity Policies by a Guest may result in suspension or termination of the Patron's 
access and usage privileges. Exceeding the authorized number of Guests specified above shall be grounds 
for suspension or termination of a Patron Household or Non-Resident Patron Household's access and 
usage privileges. 

Renter's Privileges. Residents who rent or lease residential unit(s) in the District shall have the right to 
designate the Renter of the residential unit(s) as the beneficial users of the Resident's privileges to use the 
Amenities upon written documentation. Residents may retain their Amenities rights in lieu of granting 
them to their Renters. Residents may not retain their rights to use the Amenities and grant them to Renters 
at the same time for the same residential property. 

2 



1. A Renter who is designated by a Resident as the beneficial user of the Resident's rights to use 
the Amenities shall be entitled to the same rights and privileges to use the Amenities as the 
Resident. A Renter will be required to provide proof of residency (i.e. a copy of the lease 
agreement) and pay any applicable fee before he or she receives an Access Card. Such Renter 
shall receive an Access Card which shall expire at the end of the lease term and may be 
reactivated upon provision of proof of residency. 

2 During the period when a Renter is designated as the beneficial user, the Resident shall not be 
entitled to use the Amenities. 

3. Residents shall be responsible for all charges incurred by their Renters which remain unpaid 
after the customary billing and collection procedure established by the District. Resident owners 
are responsible for the deportment of their respective Renter. 

4. Renters shall be subject to all Amenity Policies as the Board may adopt from time to time. 

Access Cards. Each Patron will be issued an Access Card by District Staff upon completion of the Amenity 
Access Registration Form. Access Cards will allow Patrons entry to the Amenities during regular operating 
hours of the Amenities. 

Patron Household members that are fourteen (14) years or older shall receive an Access Card allowing 
access to the Amenities. Patron Household members that are under fourteen (14) years of age shall be 
issued Access Cards for identification purposes which shall be carried at all times during use of the 
Amenities. Minors under fourteen (14) years of age must be accompanied by an adult eighteen (18) years 
and older at all times. Each Patron Household will be authorized initial Access Cards for up to six (6) 
Household members free of charge after which a fee shall be charged for each additional Access Card in 
accordance with the Amenity Rates then in effect. 

Patrons must scan their Access Cards in the card reader to gain access to the Amenities. This Access Card 
system provides a security and safety measure for Patrons and protects the Amenities from non-Patron 
entry. Under no circumstances, shall a Patron provide their Access Card to another person, whether Patron 
or non-Patron, to allow access to the Amenities. 

Access Cards are the property of the District and are non-transferable except in accordance with the 
District's Amenity Policies. All lost or stolen cards must be reported immediately to District Staff. Fees 
shall apply to replace any lost or stolen cards. 

SMOKING, DRUGS, AND ALCOHOL 

Smoking, including vapor and electric devices, is not permitted in any building, or enclosed or fenced area to 
the maximum extent of the prohibitions set fmih in the Florida Clean Indoor Air Act or other subsequent 
legislation. Additionally, to the extent not prohibited by law, smoking is discouraged in all other areas of the 
Amenities and on District owned propetiy. All waste must be disposed of in the appropriate receptacles. No 
employee or contractor of the District shall smoke in any building, or enclosed or fenced area of the 
Amenities. Any violation of this policy shall be reported to District Staff. 

Possession, use, and/or consumption of illegal drugs or alcoholic beverages is prohibited at the Amenities 
and on all other District owned property. Any person that appears to be under the influence of drugs or 
alcohol will be asked to leave the Amenities. Violation of this policy may result in suspension or termination 
of Amenity access and usage privileges and illegal drug use may be punished to the maximum extent 
allowed by law. 

3 



SERVICE ANIMAL POLICY 

Dogs or other pets (with the exception of"Service Animal(s)" trained to do work or perform tasks for 
an individual with a disability, including a physical, sensory, psychiatric, intellectual, or other mental 
disability) are not permitted within any District-owned public accommodations including, but not limited to, 
amenity buildings (offices, social halls and fitness center), pools, tennis courts, basketball courts, 
playgrounds, parking lots, open spaces and other appurtenances or related improvements. A Service Animal 
must be kept under the control of its handler by leash or harness, unless doing so interferes with the Service 
Animal's work or tasks or the individual's disability prevents doing so. The District may remove the Service 
Animal under the following conditions: 

• If the Service Animal is out of control and the handler does not take effective measures to control 
it; 

• If the Service Animal is not housebroken; or, 
• If the Service Animal's behavior poses a direct threat to the health and safety of others. 

The District is prohibited from asking about the nature or extent of an individual's disability in order 
to determine whether an animal is a Service Animal or pet. However, the District may ask whether an animal 
is a Service Animal required because of a disability and what work or tasks the animal has been trained to 
perform. 

GENERAL AMENITY POLICIES 

Hours of Operation. All hours of operation of the Amenities will be established and published by the 
District on its website. The District may restrict access or close some or all of the Amenities due to 
inclement weather, for purposes of providing a community activity, for making improvements, for 
conducting maintenance, or for other purposes. Any programs or activities of the District may have priority 
over other users of the Amenities. 

Unless otherwise posted on the website, all outdoor Amenities are open only from dawn until dusk. 
The specific, current hours of operation for several of the Amenities, which may be amended from time to 
time and which may be subject to closure for holidays and other special circumstances, are as published on 
the District's website. No Patron or Guest is allowed in the service areas of the Amenities. 

General Usage Guidelines. Except as otherwise stated herein, the following guidelines govern the use of 
the Amenities generally. Specific policies for each Amenity are outlined in the respective section for each 
herein. 

(1) Registration and Access Cards. Each Patron must scan in an Access Card in order to access the 
Amenities and must have his or her assigned Access Card available for inspection. Access Cards are 
only to be used by the Patron to whom they are issued. Patrons must have at all times in their possession 
their personalized Access Card to enter and use the Amenities, and must present their Access Cards 
upon request by District Staff. 

(2) Attire. With the exception of the pool and wet areas where bathing suits are permitted, Patrons 
and Guests must be properly attired with shirts and shoes to use the Amenities. Bathing suits and wet 
feet are not allowed indoors with the exception of the bath rooms. 

(3) Food and Drink. Food and drink will be limited to designated areas only. No glass containers of 
any type are permitted at any of the Amenities. All persons using any of the Amenities must keep the 
area clean by properly disposing of trash or debris. 

(4) Parking and Vehicles. Vehicles must be parked in designated areas. Vehicles should not be 
parked on grass lawns, or in any way which blocks the normal flow of traffic. During special events, 
alternative parking arrangements may be authorized but only as directed by District staff. Off-road 
bikes/vehicles (including A TV's), and motorized scooters are prohibited on all property owned, 

4 



maintained, and operated by the District or at any of the Amenities within District unless they are 
owned by the District. 

(5) Fireworks. Fireworks of any kind are not permitted anywhere on District owned prope1iy or 
adjacent areas. 

(6) Skateboards, Etc. Bicycles, skateboards, or rollerblades are not permitted on Amenity property 
which includes, but is not limited to, the amenity parking lot, Clubhouse, pool area, athletic fields, 
basketball courts, playground area, and sidewalks surrounding these areas. 

(7) Grills. Personal barbeque grills are not permitted at the Amenities or on any other District owned 
property. 

(8) Firearms. Firearms are not permitted in the Amenities unless the Patron is authorized to possess 
and carry a firearm under Florida law. Among other prohibitions, no firearms may be carried to any 
meeting of the District's Board of Supervisors. 

(9) Equipment. All District equipment, furniture, and other tangible prope1iy must be returned in 
good condition after use. Patrons and Guests are encouraged to notify District Staff if such items are in 
need of repair, maintenance, or cleaning. 

(1 0) Littering. Patrons and Guests are responsible for cleaning up after themselves and helping to 
keep the Amenities clean at all times. 

(11) Bounce Houses and Other Structures. The installation and use of bounce houses and similar 
apparatus is prohibited on District prope1iy. No exceptions will be made. 

(12) Cellular Phones. To prevent disturbance to others, use of cellular telephones should limited 
while using the Amenities and Patrons and Guests are asked to keep their ringers turned off or on 
vibrate while using the Amenities. 

(13) Excessive Noise. Excessive noise that will disturb other Patrons and Guests is not permitted. 

(14) Lost or Stolen Property. The District is not responsible for lost or stolen items. The Amenity 
Manager is not permitted to hold valuables or bags for Patrons or Guests. All found items should be 
turned in to the Amenity Manager for storage in the lost and found. Items will be stored in the lost and 
found for two weeks after which District Staff shall dispose of such items in such manner as determined 
in its sole discretion; provided, however, that District Staff shall not be permitted to keep such items 
personally or to give such items to a Patron not otherwise claiming ownership. 

(15) Trespassing I Loitering. There is no trespassing or loitering allowed at the Amenities. Any 
individual violating this policy may be repmied to the local authorities. 

(16) Compliance with Laws. All Patrons and Guests shall abide by and comply with any and all 
federal, state and local laws and ordinances, as well as any District rules and policies, while present at 
or utilizing the Amenities, and shall ensure that any minor for whom they are responsible also complies 
with the same. 

(17) Courtesy. Patrons and their Guests shall treat all staff members and other Patrons and Guests 
with courtesy and respect. Disrespectful or abusive treatment of District staff or contractors may result 
in suspension or termination of Amenity access and usage privileges. 

(18) Emergencies. In the event of an injury, prope1iy damage, or other emergency, please contact 
District Staff immediately in accordance with the terms of this policy contained herein. 

(19) False Alarms. Any Patron improperly attempting to enter the Amenity Facilities outside of 
regular operating hours or without the use of a valid Access Card and who thereby causes the security 
alarm to sound will be responsible for the full amount of any fee charged to the District in connection 
with such security alarm. 

5 



SWIMMING POOL POLICIES 

(1) Operating Hours. Swimming is permitted only during designated hours, as posted at the pool. 
Swimming after dusk is prohibited by the Florida Department of Health. 

(2) Swim at Your Own Risk. No Lifeguards will be on duty. All persons using the pool do so at their 
own risk and must abide by all swimming pool rules and policies. 

(3) Supervision of Minors. Minors under the age of fourteen (14) years must be accompanied by, and 
supervised by, an adult at least eighteen (18) years of age at all times for usage of the pool. All children five 
(5) years of age or younger, as well as all children who are unable to swim by themselves, must be 
supervised by a responsible individual eighteen (18) years of age or older within arm's length at all times 
when on the pool deck or in the pool. All children, regardless of age, using inflatable armbands (i.e., water 
wings) or any approved Coast Guard flotation device MUST be supervised one-on-one by an adult who is in 
the water and within arm's length ofthe child. 

(4) Aquatic Toys and Recreational Equipment. No flotation devices are allowed in the pool except for 
water wings and swim rings used by small children, under the direct supervision of an adult as specified in 
Section (3) immediately above. Inflatable rafts, balls, pool floats and other toys and equipment are 
prohibited. 

(5) Prevention of Disease. All swimmers must shower before initially entering the pool. Persons with 
open cuts, wounds, sores or blisters, nasal or ear discharge may not use the pool. No person should use the 
pool with or suspected of having a communicable disease which could be transmitted through the use of the 
pool. 

(6) Attire. Appropriate swimming attire (swimsuits) must be worn at all times. No thongs or Brazilian 
bikinis are allowed. Wearing prohibited attire will result in immediate expulsion from the pool area. 

(7) Horseplay No jumping, pushing, running, wrestling, excessive splashing, sitting or standing on 
shoulders, spitting water, or other horseplay is allowed in the pool or on the pool deck area. 

(8) Diving. Diving is strictly prohibited at the pool. Back dives, back flips, back jumps or other 
dangerous actions are prohibited. 

(9) Weather. The pool and pool area will be closed during electrical storms or when rain makes it 
difficult to see any part of the pool or pool bottom clearly. The pool will be closed at the first sound of 
thunder or sighting of lightning and will remain closed for thiliy (30) minutes after the last sighting. 
Everyone must leave the pool deck immediately upon hearing thunder or sighting lightning. 

(1 0) Pool Furniture; Reservation of Tables or Chairs. Tables and chairs may not be removed from the 
pool deck. Tables or chairs on the deck area may not be reserved by placing towels or personal belongings 
on them. 

(11) Entrances. Pool entrances must be kept clear at all times. 

(12) Pollution. No one shall pollute the pool. Anyone who does pollute the pool is liable for any costs 
incurred in treating and reopening the pool. 

(13) Swim Diapers. Children under the age of three (3) years, and those who are not reliably toilet 
trained, must wear rubber lined swim diapers, as well as a swimsuit over the swim diaper, to reduce the 
health risks associated with human waste contaminating the swimming pool and deck area. If contamination 
occurs, the pool will be shocked and closed for a period of twelve (12) hours. Persons not abiding by this 
policy shall be responsible for any costs incurred in treating and reopening the pool. 

6 



(14) Staff Only. Only authorized staff members and contractors are allowed in the service and chemical 
storage areas. Only authorized staff members and contractors may operate pool equipment or use pool 
chemicals. 

(15) Pool Closure. In addition to Polk County and the State of Florida Health Code Standards, and as 
noted above, the pool will be closed for the following reasons: 

• During severe weather conditions (heavy rain, lightning, and thunder) and warnings, 
especially when visibility to the pool bottom is compromised (deck also closed). 

• For thirty (30) minutes following the last occurrence of thunder or lightning (deck also 
closed). 

• Operational and mechanical treatments or difficulties affecting pool water quality. 

• For a period of time following any mishap that results in feces or vomit in the pool water. 

• Any other reason deemed to be in the best interests of the District as determined by District 
staff. 

(16) Containers. No glass, breakable items, or alcoholic beverages are permitted in the pool area. No 
food or chewing gum is allowed in the pool. 

(17) No Private Rentals. The pool area is not available for rental for private events. All pool rules and 
limitations on authorized numbers of Guests remain in full affect during the rental of other Amenity areas. 

(18) Programming. District Staff reserves the right to authorize all programs and activities, including 
with regard to the number of guest participants, equipment, supplies, usage, etc., conducted at the pool, 
including swim lessons, aquatic/recreational programs and pool parties. Any organized activities taking 
place at the Amenity Center must first be approved by the District. 

FITNESS CENTER POLICIES 

(1) Exercise at Your Own Risk. The fitness center is not supervised during operating hours. All 
Patrons and Guests are encouraged to consult their physician before beginning an exercise program and 
consult fitness staff for questions about equipment use. All Patrons and Guests shall consult District Staff 
for any questions or concerns about the equipment. 

(2) Usage Restrictions. Patrons and Guests ages fourteen (14) years and older may use the fitness 
center, but they must have an Access Card and signed waiver on file. No children under the age of (14) 
years are allowed in the fitness center at any time. 

(3) Attire. Appropriate attire including shorts, shirts, and closed toed athletic footwear must be worn 
at all times in the fitness center. 

(4) Food and Drink. No food or chewing gum is permitted in the fitness center. Water or other spmi 
drinks must be contained in non-breakable spill-proof containers. 

(5) Noise. Personal music devices are permitted if used with headphones and played at a volume that 
does not disturb others. Cell phones should be silenced and not used while in the fitness center. 

(6) Equipment. Weights or other fitness equipment may not be removed from the fitness center. 
Please replace weights to their proper location after use. Free weights are not to be dropped and should be 
placed only on the floor or on equipment made specifically for storage of the weights. Individuals are 
responsible for wiping down fitness equipment after use. 

7 



(7) Personal Training. Except as expressly authorized by the District, the provision of personal 
training services for fees, or solicitation of personal training services for fees, is prohibited. 

(8) Hand Chalk. Hand chalk is not permitted. 

(9) Personal Items. No bags, gear, or clothing are permitted on the floor of the fitness center or on the 
fitness equipment. 

(1 0) Courtesy. If a Patron/Guest is waiting, cardiovascular equipment utilization is limited to thirty (30) 
minutes. If a Patron or Guest is waiting for the weight equipment, individuals should allow others to "work 
in" between sets. All equipment must be wiped down after use with the wipes and/or spray provided. 

(11) Maintenance. All concerns, equipment malfunctions, and maintenance needs should be reported 
to District Staff immediately. 

(12) Emergencies. All emergencies and injuries must be reported to District Staff immediately. 

BASKETBALL COURT POLICIES 

(1) Use at Own Risk. Patrons and Guests may use the basketball courts at their own risk and must 
comply with all posted signage. All Patrons and Guests are encouraged to consult their physician before 
beginning an exercise program and using the basketball courts. 

(2) Hours of Operation. Unless otherwise posted, the basketball courts are open from dawn until 
dusk. 

(3) Supervision of Children. Supervision by an adult eighteen (18) years and older is required for 
minors under the age of fourteen (14) years. 

(3) No Reservations. The basketball courts are available for use by Patrons and Guests on a first
come, first-serve basis and cannot be reserved in advance. If another Patron or Guest is waiting, basketball 
comi usage shall be limited to one (1) hour. 

( 4) Attire. Appropriate athletic attire including shorts, shirts, and closed toed athletic footwear must be 
worn at all times in the basketball comis. No black soled shoes are permitted. 

(5) Destructive Use of Equipment Prohibited. Hanging on the hoops, dunking, drawing on the courts, 
and destructive use of the equipment is prohibited. 

(6) Food and Drinks. Food and gum are not permitted on the basketball courts. Drinks must be in a 
non-breakable spill-proof container. Patrons and Guests are responsible for clean-up of any food or drinks 
brought by them to the basketball courts. 

(7) Prohibited Equipment. No bicycles, scooters, skateboards, rollerblades or other equipment are 
permitted on the basketball courts. No chairs, other than those provided by the District, are permitted on the 
basketball courts. 

(8) Emergencies. All emergencies and injuries must be reported to District Staff immediately. 

PLAYGROUND POLICIES 

(1) Use at Own Risk. Patrons and Guests may use the playgrounds and parks at their own risk and 
must comply with all posted signage. 

8 



(2) Hours of Operation. Unless otherwise posted, all playground and park hours are from dawn to 
dusk. 

(3) Supervision of Children. Supervision by an adult eighteen (18) years and older is required for 
children under the age of thhteen (13) years. Children must remain in the sight of adult supervisor at all 
times. All children are expected to play cooperatively with other children. 

(4) Shoes. Proper footwear is required and no loose clothing especially with strings should be worn. 

(5) Mulch. The mulch material is necessary for reducing fall impact and for good drainage. It is not to 
be picked up, thrown, or kicked for any reason. 

(6) Food & Drink. No food, drinks or gum are permitted on the playground, but are permitted at the 
parks. Patrons and Guests are responsible for clean-up of any food or drinks brought by them to the parks. 

(7) Glass Containers. No glass containers are permitted. 

FACILITY RENTAL POLICIES 

(1) Rentals; Patrons Only. For the convenience and enjoyment of our Patrons, the Clubhouse is 
available for rental during normal operating hours by Patrons in order to use the Clubhouse on an exclusive 
basis for organized events. Unless otherwise directed by the District, only Patrons may rent the Clubhouse. 
Patrons may not rent the Clubhouse on behalf of non-Patrons. All rentals are subject to availability and the 
discretion of District Staff. The pool and pool deck areas are NOT available for rental and shall remain open 
to other Patrons and their Guests during nmmal operating hours. 

(2) Rental Reservation Process. Patrons interested in renting the clubhouse may reserve a desired 
rental date and time on a first-come, first-serve basis up to four ( 4) months in advance of such desired rental 
date. To reserve a desired rental date and time, Patrons must submit to the Amenity Manager a completed 
Amenity Rental Form and a check in the full amount of the Deposit as specified in the Amenity Rates 
("Rental Date"). A desired rental date will NOT be reserved until both the completed Amenity Rental Form 
and Deposit are received by District Staff. District Staff will review the Amenity Rental Form and has full 
authority to deny the request subject to availability and in its reasonable discretion. No later than fourteen 
(14) days prior to the Rental Date, Patron must submit a check to the Amenity Manager for the full amount 
of the Rental Fee as specified in the Amenity Rates or Patron's Deposit will be forfeited and the Rental Date 
will be released and made available to other Patrons. To make a reservation within fom1een (14) days of the 
desired rental date, Patrons must submit to District Staff a completed Amenity Rental Form and a check in 
the total amount of both the Deposit and Rental Fee. NO EXCEPTIONS WILL BE MADE TO THE 
RENTAL RESERVATION PROCESS. 

(3) Cancellations. Cancellations must be made in writing and received by the Amenity Manager at 
least fifteen (15) days in advance of the Rental Date in order for Patron to receive a refund of the Deposit. 

(4) Deposits. Deposits will be returned within ten (10) days of the Rental Date provided there has 
been no damage to District property and the Clubhouse has been properly cleaned after use. To receive the 
full refund of the Deposit, the renting Patron must: 

1. Remove all garbage, place in dumpster, and replace garbage liners; 

11. Remove all decorations, event displays, and materials; 

111. Return all furniture and other items to their original position; 

IV. Wipe off counters, table tops, and the sink area; 

9 



v. Clean out and wipe down the refrigerator as well as any cabinets and other appliances 
used; and 

111. Otherwise clean the Clubhouse and restore it to the pre-rented condition, and to the 
satisfaction of District Staff. 

(5) Additional Cleaning or Damage. The District may retain all or pati of any Deposit if the District 
determines, in its sole discretion, that it is necessary to perform additional cleaning or to repair any 
damages arising from the rental. Should the costs of any such cleaning or repairs exceed the Deposit, 
the District shall have authority to recover such costs from Patron by any means legally available and 
to suspend Patron's access and use privileges until such Patron pays any such amounts. 

(6) Duration of Events. Unless otherwise authorized in writing by the District's Board of Supervisors 
pursuant to a special request, rentals shall take place during normal business hours and be for a 
maximum of five (5) hours, inclusive of set-up and clean-up time. No exceptions shall be made to 
allow for set-up or clean-up outside of the five (5) hour rental period. 

(7) Noise. The volume of any live or recorded music must not violate applicable County noise 
ordinances or unreasonably interfere with residents' use and enjoyment of their homes or the other 
Amenities. 

(8) Capacity. Under no circumstances shall the capacity limit ofthe Clubhouse be exceeded during any 
rental. 

(9) Insurance. Additional liability insurance coverage may be required for events that the District 
determines in its sole discretion should require additional liability insurance. The District must be 
named as an additional insured on any such insurance policy in order to satisfy any such requirement 
for additional liability insurance. 

SUSPENSION AND TERMINATION OF PRIVILEGES 

(1) General Policy. All persons using the Amenities and entering District prope1iy are responsible for 
compliance with, and shall comply with, the Amenity Policies established for the safe operations of 
the District's Amenities. District Staff must protect the rights and privileges of rule-abiding Patrons, 
and inappropriate behavior by Patrons or their Guests will not be tolerated. 

(2) Suspension of Access and Use Privileges. The District, through its Board, District Manager, 
Amenity Manager, and District Counsel shall have the right to restrict, suspend, or terminate the 
Amenity privileges of any person to use the Amenities for any of the following behavior: 

a. Submits false information on any application for use of the Amenities; 

b. Permits the unauthorized use of an Access Card; 

c. Exhibits unsatisfactory behavior, deportment or appearance; 

d. Fails to pay amounts owed to the District in a proper and timely manner; 

e. Fails to abide by any District rules or policies (e.g., Amenity Policies); 

f. Treats the District's supervisors, staff, general/amenity management, contractors, or 
other representatives, or other residents or guests, in an unreasonable or abusive 
manner; 

g. Damages or destroys District property; or 

h. Engages in conduct that is improper or likely to endanger the health, safety, or welfare 

10 



of the District, or its supervisors, staff, amenities management, contractors, or other 
representatives, or other residents or Guests. 

(3) Authority of District Staff and Members of the Board of Supervisors. District Staff or their 
designee, and any member of the Board of Supervisors, has the ability to remove any person from 
one or all Amenities if any of the above-referenced behaviors are exhibited or actions committed or 
if in his/her reasonable discretion it is the District's best interests to do so. District Staff may at any 
time restrict or suspend for cause or causes, including but not limited to those described above, any 
person's privileges to use any or all ofthe Amenities until the next regularly scheduled meeting of 
the Board of Supervisors. 

(4) Process for Suspension or Termination of Access and Use Privileges. Subject to the rights of 
District Staff set fotih in Section 3 above, the following process shall govern suspension and 
termination of privileges: 

a. Offenses: 

L First Offense: Verbal warning by District Staff and suspension from the 
Amenities for up to one (1) week from the commencement of the suspension. 
Violation is recorded by District Staff, signed by the individual offender(s), and 
held on file by the District. 

11 Second Offense: Automatic suspension of all Amenity privileges for up to 
thirty (30) days from the commencement of the suspension, with the 
preparation by District Staff of a written report to be signed by the offender(s) 
and filed with the District. 

m. Third Offense: Suspension of all Amenity privileges for up to one (1) year. 
Such suspension shall run to the next regular meeting of the Board of 
Supervisors. At said meeting, the record of all previous offenses will be 
presented to the Board for recommendation of termination of the offender(s) 
privileges for one (1) calendar year. The length of the suspension is in the 
discretion of the Board and may be for less than one (1) year. 

b. Each offense shall expire one (1) year after such offense was committed, at which time 
the number of offenses on record for such offender(s) shall be reduced by one. For 
example, if a first offense is committed on February 1 and a second offense on August 
1, there will be two offenses on record until February 1 of the following year, at which 
time the first offense will expire and the second offense will thereafter be considered a 
first offense until it expires on the following August 1. The provisions of this 
Paragraph shall not at any time serve to reduce any suspensions or terminations, which 
may have been imposed prior to the expiration of any offenses. 

c. Notwithstanding the foregoing, any time a user of the Amenity is arrested for an act 
committed, or allegedly committed, while on the premises of the Amenity, or violates 
these Policies in a manner that, in the discretion of the District Staff upon consultation 
with one Board member, justifies suspension beyond the guidelines set fmih above, 
such offender(s) shall have all amenity privileges immediately suspended until the next 
Board of Supervisors meeting. At the Board meeting, the Board will be presented with 
the facts surrounding the arrest or violation and the Board may make a 
recommendation of suspension or termination of the offender(s) privileges, which 
suspension or termination may include members of the offender(s) household and may, 
upon the first offense, equal to or exceed one year. In pmticular situations that pose a 
long term or continuing threat to the health, safety and welfare of the District and its 
residents and users, permanent termination of Amenity privileges may be warranted 

II 



and considered. 

d. Any suspension or termination of Amenity privileges may be appealed to the Board of 
Supervisors for reversal or reduction. The Board's decision on appeal shall be final. 

(5) Legal Action; Criminal Prosecution. If any person is found to have committed any of the 
infractions noted in Section 2 above, such person may additionally be subject to arrest for 
trespassing or other applicable legal action, civil or criminal in nature. 

USE AT OWN RISK; lNDEMNIFICA TION 

Any Patron, Guest, or other person who participates in the Activities (as defined below), 
shall do so at his or her own risk, and shall indemnify, defend, release, hold harmless, and forever 
discharge the District and its contractors, and the present, former, and future supervisors, staff, 
officers, employees, representatives, agents, and contractors of each (together, "Indemnitees"), for 
any and all liability, claims, lawsuits, actions, suits or demands, whether known or unknown, in law 
or equity, by any individual of any age, or any corporation or other entity, for any and all loss, 
injury, damage, theft, real or personal property damage, expenses (including attorney's fees, costs 
and other expenses for investigation and defense and in connection with, among other proceedings, 
alternative dispute resolution, trial court, and appellate proceedings), and harm of any kind or 
nature arising out of, or in connection with, the participation in the Activities, by said Patron, 
Guest, or other person, and any of his or her Guests and any members of his or her Household. 

Should any Patron, Guest, or other person bring suit against the Indemnitees in connection 
with the Activities or relating in any way to the Amenities, and fail to obtain judgment therein 
against the Indemnitees, said Patron, Guest, or other person shall be liable to the District for all 
attorney's fees, costs, and other expenses for investigation and defense and in connection with, 
among other proceedings, alternative dispute resolution, trial court, and appellate proceedings. 

The waiver of liability contained herein does not apply to any act of intentional, willful or 
wanton misconduct by the Indemnitees. 

For purposes of this section, the term "Activities" shall mean the use of or acceptance of the 
use of the Amenities, or engagement in any contest, game, function, exercise, competition, sport, 
event, or other activity operated, organized, arranged or sponsored by the District, its contractors or 
third parties authorized by the District. 

SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY 

Nothing herein shall constitute or be construed as a waiver of the Districts' limitations on liability 
contained in Section 768.28, F.S., or other statutes or law. 

SEVERABILITY 

The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more provisions of these policies shall not affect 
the validity or enforceability of the remaining provisions, or any part of the policies not held to be invalid 
or unenforceable. 

12 



AMENDMENTS AND WAIVERS 

The Board in its sole discretion may amend these Amenity Policies from time to time. The Board 
by vote at a public meeting or the District Manager may elect in its/their sole discretion at any time to 
grant waivers to any of the provisions of these Amenity Policies, provided however that the Board is 
informed within a reasonable time of any such waivers. 

The above amended policies were adopted on April 12, 2018, by the Board of Supervisors for the 
Towne Park Community Development District. 

Exhibit A: Amenity Rates 
Exhibit B: Amenity Access Registration Form 
Exhibit C: Amenity Rental Application Form 

13 

















 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Re-Opening of District Amenities 
 

(provided under separate cover) 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Escrow Agreement 































 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Partial Termination of Temporary Construction 
and Access Easement Agreement  

 











 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Pay Applications 
 
 
 



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Phase 3A #19-20 
 
 
 













DATE:
4/23/2020

1450 S. Park Road Via E-mail Only
Plant City, FL  33566 RE:

Phone:  (813) 634-3326   Fax:  (813) 634-1733 Towne Park Phase 3A (a/k/a Riverstone Phase 1)

TO: Jane Gaarlandt, District Manager FROM: Jacqui Gardner

Towne Park CDD QGS Development, Inc.

c/o PFM Group Consulting, LLC 1450 S. Park Road

12051 Corporate Blvd. Plant City, FL  33566

Orlando, FL  32817

Documents included in this transmission:

NO

          Your Approval _____ Approval as Submitted       _____ Resubmit ___ Copies for Approval

           Your Use _____ Approval as Noted       _____ Submit ___ Copies for Approval

_____ As Requested _____ Returned for Corrections       _____ Return ___ Corrected Prints

_____ Your Review and Comments       _____ Prints returned after Loan to Us

By: Date: 4/23/2020

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

SETS DATE DESCRIPTION

Jacqui Gardner, QGS Dev., Inc.

Attached please find the above referenced documents for your handling.

Thank you,

Pay App 20 Package (Thru 4/30/2020).1











 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Riverstone Phase 2 #6-9 
 
 
 





















































 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Riverstone Phase 3 & 4 #6-9 
 
 
 































































DATE:
4/23/2020

1450 S. Park Road Via E-mail Only
Plant City, FL  33566 RE:

Phone:  (813) 634-3326   Fax:  (813) 634-1733 Riverstone Subdivision Phase 3 & 4

TO: Jane Gaarlandt, District Manager FROM: Jacqui Gardner

Towne Park CDD QGS Development, Inc.

c/o PFM Group Consulting, LLC 1450 S. Park Road

12051 Corporate Blvd. Plant City, FL  33566

Orlando, FL  32817

Documents included in this transmission:

NO

          Your Approval _____ Approval as Submitted       _____ Resubmit ___ Copies for Approval

           Your Use _____ Approval as Noted       _____ Submit ___ Copies for Approval

_____ As Requested _____ Returned for Corrections       _____ Return ___ Corrected Prints

_____ Your Review and Comments       _____ Prints returned after Loan to Us

By: Date: 4/23/2020

Pay App 6 Pkg (Thru 4/23/2020).1

Jacqui Gardner, QGS Dev., Inc.

Attached please find the above referenced documents for your handling.

Thank you,

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL

SETS DATE DESCRIPTION



















 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Approved Escrow Fund Releases  
 
 
 













1

Amanda Lane

From: Nicole Hill <nhill@WHMSFL.COM>
Sent: Wednesday, May 6, 2020 3:37 PM
To: Amanda Lane
Cc: Jane Gaarlandt
Subject: RE: Towne Park - Amenity escrow 

From: Nicole Hill [mailto:nhill@WHMSFL.COM]  
Sent: Wednesday, May 6, 2020 1:19 PM 
To: Amanda Lane <lanea@pfm.com> 
Cc: Jane Gaarlandt <gaarlandtj@pfm.com> 
Subject: RE: Towne Park - Amenity escrow  
 
Yes, thank you. 
 
From: Amanda Lane <lanea@pfm.com>  
Sent: Wednesday, May 6, 2020 11:41 AM 
To: Nicole Hill <nhill@WHMSFL.COM> 
Cc: Jane Gaarlandt <gaarlandtj@pfm.com> 
Subject: RE: Towne Park - Amenity escrow  
 
Nicole, 
 
I will plan to prep the amenity escrow sheet(s) for the following: 
 

• $3,961.26 payable to Towne Park (originally paid on March 24 by trustee to County Materials on req 258) to be 
deposited to the 3A trust account. 

• $51,081.25 payable to Towne Park (originally paid on April 2 by trustee to QGS on req 261) to be deposited to the 
3A trust account. 

• $64,973.61 payable to QGS for the remainder of pay app 16 
o $65,009.44 was originally put on FR 13 to be paid by developer. I haven’t received that check yet. When I 

do, I’ll return it, uncashed. 
• $14,093.16 payable to County Materials 

o $15,783.16 was put on FR 15 to be paid by the developer. I haven’t received that check yet. When I do, 
I’ll cash it for the portion that relates to Hamilton Engineering and send back the remaining amount. 

• $58,304.24 payable to QGS 
o $73,854.24 was put on FR 16 to be paid by the developer. I haven’t received that check yet. When I do, 

I’ll cash it for the portion that relates to a Towne Park reimbursement and send back the remaining 
amount. 

 
Did I cover all of it correctly?  
 
Amanda Lane 
Assistant Chief District Accountant 
____ 
 
PFM Group Consulting LLC 
LaneA@pfm.com | phone 407.723.5900  |  fax 407.723.5901  |  web pfm.com 
12051 Corporate Blvd.  |  Orlando, FL 32817 
 
From: Nicole Hill [mailto:nhill@WHMSFL.COM]  
Sent: Wednesday, May 6, 2020 11:20 AM 
To: Amanda Lane <lanea@pfm.com> 

lanea
Highlight

lanea
Highlight



2

Cc: Jane Gaarlandt <gaarlandtj@pfm.com> 
Subject: Towne Park - Amenity escrow  
 
REQ 261 & R258 – were for the amenity.   
See QGS CO# 6R attached. $128,949.85 less 10% retainage = $116,054.87 requested.  Partially paid by CDD & partially on 
FR #13. 
 

 
 
Any Direct Materials will be for the amenity – County Materials $3,961.26 

 



3

 
This affects recently paid FR #13  $65,009.44 paid 4/27/20, FR#14 County Materials $14,093.16 paid 4/27/20, FR#16 QGS 
$58,304.24 paid 5/4/20.  Note sure if the CDD trustee has issued payment for these or not. 
 
I think all of this should be submitted to S&T escrow for amenity. 



TOWNE PARK
C O M M U N I T Y   D E V E L O P M E N T   D I S T R I C T

Funding Request #13
Capital Projects Phase 3A
3/27/2020

Phase 3A
Item Payee Invoice Number Riverstone, LLC
No.

1 QGS Development
Phase 3A Pay Application #19 -- 116,054.86$               
Portion Paid by Area 3A Construction Funds -- (51,081.25)$                

TOTAL 64,973.61$                 

Chairperson

Towne Park CDD
c/o PFM Group Consulting, LLC
12051 Corporate Boulevard
Orlando, FL 32817
(407) 723-5900 // LaneA@pfm.com











TOWNE PARK
C O M M U N I T Y   D E V E L O P M E N T   D I S T R I C T

Funding Request #16
Capital Projects Phase 3A
4/24/2020

Phase 3A
Item Payee Invoice Number Riverstone, LLC
No.

1 Towne Park CDD
Phase 3A Reimbursement to Phase 3B Requisition 81 -- 15,550.00$                 

2 QGS Development
Phase 3A Pay Application #20 Through 04/30/2020 -- 58,304.24$                 

TOTAL 73,854.24$                 

Chairperson

Towne Park CDD
c/o PFM Group Consulting, LLC
12051 Corporate Boulevard
Orlando, FL 32817
(407) 723-5900 // LaneA@pfm.com

lanea
Highlight

lanea
Highlight

lanea
Highlight











 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Payment Authorization Nos. 138 – 150   
 
 





























 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Monthly Financials 
 



General Fund Debt Service, 
S2016, S2018

Debt Service, 
S2019 

Capital 
Projects, 

S2016, S2018

Capital 
Projects, 

S2019

Long Term Debt 
Group Total

$308,188.41 $308,188.41 
4,500.00 4,500.00 

$113,137.50 113,137.50 
108,628.12 108,628.12 
287,548.44 287,548.44 
76,149.97 76,149.97 
31,322.73 31,322.73 

176,284.95 176,284.95 
41,768.75 41,768.75 
84,653.12 84,653.12 

225,959.38 225,959.38 
637.35 637.35 

1,281,748.62 1,281,748.62 
797,056.24 797,056.24 
45,000.00 45,000.00 

125,000.00 125,000.00 
$335,843.76 335,843.76 
322,120.00 322,120.00 

3,925.72 3,925.72 
1,395.66 1,395.66 
1,520.62 1,520.62 

120,484.37 120,484.37 
93,772.05 93,772.05 

$797,601.49 797,601.49 
0.21 0.21 

68.50 68.50 
$155,521.77 155,521.77 
324,089.89 324,089.89 

984.84 984.84 

$312,688.41 $3,394,895.17 $879,062.18 $797,670.20 $480,596.50 $0.00 $5,864,912.46 

Cost of Issuance S2019-3C

Total Current Assets

Capitalized Interest S2019-3C
Accounts Receivable - Due from Developer
Acquisition/Construction S2016
Acquisition/Construction S2018-2B
Acquisition/Construction S2019-3B
Acquisition/Construction S2019-3C

Debt Service Reserve S2019-3B
Debt Service Reserve S2019-3C
Revenue S2019-3B
Revenue S2019-3C
Interest S2019-3B
Capitalized Interest S2019-3B

Interest S2018-3A
Prepayment S2016
Prepayment S2018-2B
Prepayment S2018-3A
Sinking Fund S2018-2B
Sinking Fund S2018-3A

Debt Service Reserve S2018-3A
Revenue S2016
Revenue S2018-2B
Revenue S2018-3A
Interest S2016
Interest S2018-2B

Assets

Current Assets
General Checking Account
Deposits
Debt Service Reserve S2016
Debt Service Reserve S2018-2B

Towne Park CDD
Statement of Financial Position

As of 4/30/2020

Page 1 of 3



General Fund Debt Service, 
S2016, S2018

Debt Service, 
S2019 

Capital 
Projects, 

S2016, S2018

Capital 
Projects, 

S2019

Long Term Debt 
Group Total

Towne Park CDD
Statement of Financial Position

As of 4/30/2020

$4,273,957.35 $4,273,957.35 
19,621,042.65 19,621,042.65 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $23,895,000.00 $23,895,000.00 

$312,688.41 $3,394,895.17 $879,062.18 $797,670.20 $480,596.50 $23,895,000.00 $29,759,912.46 

$2,183.33 $2,183.33 
$797,565.66 797,565.66 
797,601.49 797,601.49 
69,373.25 69,373.25 

$325,831.18 325,831.18 
455,193.20 455,193.20 

$2,183.33 $0.00 $0.00 $1,664,540.40 $781,024.38 $0.00 $2,447,748.11 

$23,895,000.00 $23,895,000.00 

$0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $0.00 $23,895,000.00 $23,895,000.00 

$2,183.33 $0.00 $0.00 $1,664,540.40 $781,024.38 $23,895,000.00 $26,342,748.11 

Total Long Term Liabilities

Total Liabilities

Retainage Payable S2018-3A
Accounts Payable
Retainage Payable S2019-3C

Total Current Liabilities

Long Term Liabilities
Revenue Bonds Payable - Long-Term

Total Assets

Liabilities and Net Assets

Current Liabilities
Accounts Payable
Accounts Payable
Deferred Revenue

Investments
Amount Available in Debt Service Funds
Amount To Be Provided

Total Investments

Page 2 of 3



General Fund Debt Service, 
S2016, S2018

Debt Service, 
S2019 

Capital 
Projects, 

S2016, S2018

Capital 
Projects, 

S2019

Long Term Debt 
Group Total

Towne Park CDD
Statement of Financial Position

As of 4/30/2020

$186.20 $186.20 
72,515.13 72,515.13 

237,803.75 237,803.75 

$971,408.78 971,408.78 
2,423,486.39 2,423,486.39 

$510,404.94 510,404.94 
368,657.24 368,657.24 

($882,719.11) (882,719.11)
15,848.91 15,848.91 

$3,227,198.46 3,227,198.46 
(3,527,626.34) (3,527,626.34)

$310,505.08 $3,394,895.17 $879,062.18 ($866,870.20) ($300,427.88) $0.00 $3,417,164.35 

$312,688.41 $3,394,895.17 $879,062.18 $797,670.20 $480,596.50 $23,895,000.00 $29,759,912.46 

Net Assets, Unrestricted
Current Year Net Assets, Unrestricted

Total Net Assets

Total Liabilities and Net Assets

Net Assets, Unrestricted
Current Year Net Assets, Unrestricted

Net Assets, Unrestricted
Current Year Net Assets, Unrestricted

Net Assets, Unrestricted
Current Year Net Assets, Unrestricted

Net Assets
Net Assets, Unrestricted
Net Assets - General Government

Current Year Net Assets - General Government

Page 3 of 3



General Fund Debt Service, 
S2016, S2018

Debt Service, 
S2019 

Capital 
Projects, 

S2016, S2018

Capital 
Projects, S2019

Long Term 
Debt Group Total

Revenues

On-Roll Assessments $88,553.46 $88,553.46
Off-Roll Assessments 336,709.37 336,709.37
Other Income & Other Financing Sources 538.29 538.29
On-Roll Assessments $224,134.71 224,134.71
Off-Roll Assessments 332,109.20 332,109.20
Other Assessments 4,483,352.72 4,483,352.72
Inter-Fund Group Transfers In $1,520.62 1,520.62
Debt Proceeds 415,892.05 415,892.05
Developer Contributions $1,566,281.66 1,566,281.66
Other Income & Other Financing Sources 16,500.00 16,500.00
Inter-Fund Transfers In 2,492.40 2,492.40
Developer Contributions $96,290.00 96,290.00
Other Income & Other Financing Sources 6,219.60 6,219.60
Inter-Fund Transfers In (4,013.02) (4,013.02)
Debt Proceeds 4,729,107.95 4,729,107.95

Total Revenues $425,801.12 $5,039,596.63 $417,412.67 $1,585,274.06 $4,827,604.53 $0.00 $12,295,689.01

Expenses

Supervisor Fees $3,800.00 $3,800.00
D&O Insurance 2,415.00 2,415.00
Trustee Services 8,808.58 8,808.58
Management 14,583.31 14,583.31
Field Management 139.58 139.58
Engineering 470.00 470.00
Dissemination Agent 5,500.00 5,500.00
District Counsel 22,414.44 22,414.44
Assessment Administration 12,500.00 12,500.00
Audit 4,000.00 4,000.00
Travel and Per Diem 36.61 36.61
Postage & Shipping 297.44 297.44
Copies 50.40 50.40
Legal Advertising 2,545.52 2,545.52
Contingency 32.75 32.75
Web Site Maintenance 700.00 700.00
Dues, Licenses, and Fees 175.00 175.00

As of 4/30/2020
Statement of Activities

Towne Park CDD

Page 1 of 3



General Fund Debt Service, 
S2016, S2018

Debt Service, 
S2019 

Capital 
Projects, 

S2016, S2018

Capital 
Projects, S2019

Long Term 
Debt Group Total

As of 4/30/2020
Statement of Activities

Towne Park CDD

Other Revenues (Expenses) & Gains (Losses)

Interest Income $147.36 $147.36
Interest Income $13,417.91 13,417.91
Interest Income $4,123.83 4,123.83
Interest Income $926.41 926.41
Interest Income $23,257.30 23,257.30

Total Other Revenues (Expenses) & Gains (Losses) $147.36 $13,417.91 $4,123.83 $926.41 $23,257.30 $0.00 $41,872.81

Change In Net Assets $237,803.75 $2,423,486.39 $368,657.24 $15,848.91 ($3,527,626.34) $0.00 ($481,830.05)

Net Assets At Beginning Of Year $72,701.33 $971,408.78 $510,404.94 ($882,719.11) $3,227,198.46 $0.00 $3,898,994.40

Net Assets At End Of Year $310,505.08 $3,394,895.17 $879,062.18 ($866,870.20) ($300,427.88) $0.00 $3,417,164.35

Page 3 of 3



Actual Budget Variance
FY 2020 
Adopted 
Budget

425,262.83$       251,387.50$      173,875.33$      430,950.00$      
538.29                -                    538.29               -                    

425,801.12$       251,387.50$      174,413.62$      430,950.00$      

3,800.00$           2,333.33$          1,466.67$          4,000.00$          
2,415.00             1,516.67            898.33               2,600.00            
8,808.58             6,416.67            2,391.91            11,000.00          

14,583.31           14,583.33          (0.02)                  25,000.00          
139.58                700.00              (560.42)              1,200.00            
470.00                5,833.33            (5,363.33)           10,000.00          

5,500.00             3,208.33            2,291.67            5,500.00            
22,414.44           11,666.67          10,747.77          20,000.00          
12,500.00           7,291.67            5,208.33            12,500.00          

-                      291.67              (291.67)              500.00              
4,000.00             5,833.33            (1,833.33)           10,000.00          

36.61                  -                    36.61                 -                    
-                      116.67              (116.67)              200.00              

297.44                87.50                209.94               150.00              
50.40                  583.33              (532.93)              1,000.00            

2,545.52             1,750.00            795.52               3,000.00            
32.75                  8,750.00            (8,717.25)           15,000.00          

700.00                1,400.00            (700.00)              2,400.00            
175.00                145.83              29.17                 250.00              

-                      4,666.67            (4,666.67)           8,000.00            
8,008.00             14,583.33          (6,575.33)           25,000.00          
3,020.00             1,895.83            1,124.17            3,250.00            

11,616.00           11,666.67          (50.67)                20,000.00          
63,186.05           105,000.00        (41,813.95)         180,000.00        

-                      2,916.67            (2,916.67)           5,000.00            
$164,298.68$       213,237.50$      (48,938.82)$       365,550.00$      

For the Month Ending 04/30/2020
Budget to Actual

Towne Park CDD

Year To Date

Revenues

Net Revenues

General & Administrative Expenses

Assessments
Other Income & Other Financing Sources

Postage & Shipping

Hurricane Cleanup

Web Site Maintenance

General Liability Insurance
Property & Casualty Insurance

Supervisor Fees
D&O Insurance

Telephone

Assessment Administration

Dues, Licenses, and Fees

Trustee Services
Management
Field Management

Copies
Legal Advertising
Miscellaneous, Contingency

Travel and Per Diem
Audit

Engineering

Total General & Administrative Expenses

Reamortization Schedules

Landscaping Maintenance & Material

Dissemination Agent

Pond Maintenance

District Counsel

Water

Page 1 of 2



Actual Budget Variance
FY 2020 
Adopted 
Budget

For the Month Ending 04/30/2020
Budget to Actual

Towne Park CDD

Year To Date

-$                    583.33$             (583.33)$            1,000.00$          
4,921.17             5,833.33            (912.16)              10,000.00          

987.02                2,916.67            (1,929.65)           5,000.00            
10,050.00           7,000.00            3,050.00            12,000.00          
4,518.00             3,500.00            1,018.00            6,000.00            
1,925.00             291.67              1,633.33            500.00              

664.86                583.33              81.53                 1,000.00            
780.00                1,458.33            (678.33)              2,500.00            

-                      1,400.00            (1,400.00)           2,400.00            

23,846.05$         23,566.66$        279.39$             40,400.00$        

-$                    1,050.00$          (1,050.00)$         1,800.00$          
-                      3,383.33            (3,383.33)           5,800.00            
-                      1,691.67            (1,691.67)           2,900.00            
-                      4,083.33            (4,083.33)           7,000.00            
-                      2,041.67            (2,041.67)           3,500.00            
-                      175.00              (175.00)              300.00              
-                      291.67              (291.67)              500.00              
-                      816.67              (816.67)              1,400.00            
-                      1,050.00            (1,050.00)           1,800.00            

-$                    14,583.34$        (14,583.34)$       25,000.00$        

188,144.73$       251,387.50$      (63,242.77)$       430,950.00$      

237,656.39$       -$                  237,656.39$      -$                  

147.36$              -$                  147.36$             -$                  

147.36$              -$                  147.36$             -$                  

237,803.75$       -$                  237,803.75$      -$                  Net Income (Loss)

Total Pool & Clubhouse Expenses

Total Expenses

Interest Income

Total Other Income (Expense)

Income (Loss) from Operations

Other Income (Expense)

Facility Management

Pest Control
Internet/Phone

Pool & Clubhouse #2

Facility Repair & Maintenance

Janitorial Expenses

Maintenance Staff

Pool Maintenance & Repairs

Pool & Clubhouse #1
Maintenance Staff

Facility Management

Electric
Water
Pool Maintenance & Repairs

Internet/Phone
Pest Control

Facility Repair & Maintenance

Janitorial Expenses

Water
Electric

Page 2 of 2



 
 
 
 
 

Towne Park 
Community Development District 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Staff Reports  
 


	Executive Order 20-69
	Minutes
	Letter from Supervisor of Election
	Resolution 2020-13
	Resolution 2020-14
	Public Hearing 
	Resolution 2020-15
	Resolution 2020-16
	Conveyance of Stormwater Ponds
	Proposal(s) for Riverstone Ponds Maintenance
	District's Amenity Policies
	Re-Opening Of District Amenities
	Escrow Agreement
	Partial Termination of Temporary Construction 
	Pay Applications
	Phase 3A #19-20
	Riverstone Phase 2 #6-9
	Riverstone Phase 3 & 4 #6-9
	Approved Escrow Fund Releases
	Payment Authorization
	Monthly Financials
	Staff Reports
	Towne Park FY21 Assessment Budget.pdf
	Assess. Sch. 2020.04.02 Jen G.




